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PART I—FINANCIAL INFORMATION
Item 1. Financial Statements

CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED BALANCE SHEETS

(dollars in millions, except per share amounts)
September 30,

2020
December 31,

2019
Assets (unaudited)
Current assets:

Cash and cash equivalents $ 1,249.5 $ 154.0 
Accounts receivable, net of allowance for credit losses of $32.7 and $7.9, respectively 3,267.7 3,002.2 
Merchandise inventory 648.1 611.2 
Miscellaneous receivables 404.1 395.1 
Prepaid expenses and other 190.2 171.6 

Total current assets 5,759.6 4,334.1 
Operating lease right-of-use assets 133.5 131.8 
Property and equipment, net 268.0 363.1 
Goodwill 2,573.4 2,553.0 
Other intangible assets, net 461.8 594.1 
Other assets 27.4 23.3 

Total Assets $ 9,223.7 $ 7,999.4 
Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity
Current liabilities:

Accounts payable-trade $ 1,922.0 $ 1,835.0 
Accounts payable-inventory financing 661.2 429.9 
Current maturities of long-term debt 72.3 34.1 
Contract liabilities 246.8 252.2 
Accrued expenses and other current liabilities:

Compensation 216.4 212.3 
Advertising 157.7 147.9 
Sales and income taxes 68.8 88.6 
Other 491.4 491.4 

Total current liabilities 3,836.6 3,491.4 
Long-term liabilities:

Debt 3,858.6 3,283.2 
Deferred income taxes 63.1 62.4 
Operating lease liabilities 151.5 131.1 
Other liabilities 75.4 71.0 

Total long-term liabilities 4,148.6 3,547.7 
Stockholders' equity:

Preferred stock, $0.01 par value, 100.0 shares authorized; no shares issued or outstanding for both periods — — 
Common stock, $0.01 par value, 1,000.00 shares authorized; 142.8 and 143.0 shares outstanding, respectively 1.4 1.4 
Paid-in capital 3,161.8 3,095.3 
Accumulated deficit (1,794.0) (2,018.6)
Accumulated other comprehensive loss (130.7) (117.8)

Total stockholders' equity 1,238.5 960.3 
Total Liabilities and Stockholders' Equity $ 9,223.7 $ 7,999.4 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF OPERATIONS

(dollars in millions, except per-share amounts)
(unaudited)

 Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019 2020 2019
Net sales $ 4,756.4 $ 4,907.7 $ 13,511.3 $ 13,495.5 
Cost of sales 3,930.9 4,091.2 11,182.1 11,233.1 
Gross profit 825.5 816.5 2,329.2 2,262.4 
Selling and administrative expenses 507.7 495.9 1,482.2 1,412.6 
Operating income 317.8 320.6 847.0 849.8 
Interest expense, net (40.2) (42.3) (117.8) (121.1)
Other expense, net (27.5) (17.4) (21.9) (15.0)
Income before income taxes 250.1 260.9 707.3 713.7 
Income tax expense (56.9) (59.2) (157.1) (162.5)
Net income $ 193.2 $ 201.7 $ 550.2 $ 551.2 

Net income per common share:
Basic $ 1.36 $ 1.39 $ 3.86 $ 3.78 
Diluted $ 1.33 $ 1.37 $ 3.80 $ 3.72 

Weighted-average common shares outstanding:
Basic 142.7 144.5 142.6 145.7 
Diluted 144.8 147.2 144.7 148.2 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

 Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Net income $ 193.2 $ 201.7 $ 550.2 $ 551.2 
Other comprehensive income (loss):

Unrealized loss from hedge accounting, net of tax (0.4) (0.4) (0.6) (12.8)
Reclassification of hedge accounting loss to net income, net of tax 1.6 0.3 4.1 2.0 
Foreign currency translation, net of tax 19.7 (14.6) (16.4) (12.7)

Other comprehensive income (loss) 20.9 (14.7) (12.9) (23.5)
Comprehensive income $ 214.1 $ 187.0 $ 537.3 $ 527.7 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020
Common Stock

Shares Amount
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss
Total 

Stockholders' Equity

Balance as of June 30, 2020 142.6 $ 1.4 $ 3,138.3 $ (1,932.5) $ (151.6) $ 1,055.6 
Net income — — — 193.2 — 193.2 
Equity-based compensation expense — — 11.6 — — 11.6 
Stock option exercises 0.2 — 7.1 — — 7.1 
Coworker Stock Purchase Plan — — 4.5 — — 4.5 
Dividends paid ($0.380 per share) — — 0.3 (54.5) — (54.2)
Incentive compensation plan stock withheld for taxes — — — (0.2) — (0.2)
Foreign currency translation — — — — 19.7 19.7 
Unrealized loss from hedge accounting — — — — (0.4) (0.4)
Reclassification of hedge accounting loss to net income — — — — 1.6 1.6 
Balance as of September 30, 2020 142.8 $ 1.4 $ 3,161.8 $ (1,794.0) $ (130.7) $ 1,238.5 

Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Common Stock

Shares Amount
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss
Total 

Stockholders' Equity

Balance as of June 30, 2019 145.0 $ 1.5 $ 3,047.6 $ (1,973.6) $ (139.4) $ 936.1 
Net income — — — 201.7 — 201.7 
Equity-based compensation expense — — 12.9 — — 12.9 
Stock option exercises 0.3 — 8.6 — — 8.6 
Coworker Stock Purchase Plan — — 3.9 — — 3.9 
Repurchases of common stock (1.4) (0.1) — (161.0) — (161.1)
Dividends paid ($0.295 per share) — — 0.2 (42.8) — (42.6)
Incentive compensation plan stock withheld for taxes — — — (9.7) — (9.7)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (14.6) (14.6)
Unrealized loss from hedge accounting — — — — (0.4) (0.4)
Reclassification of hedge accounting loss to net income — — — — 0.3 0.3 
Balance as of September 30, 2019 143.9 $ 1.4 $ 3,073.2 $ (1,985.4) $ (154.1) $ 935.1 
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF STOCKHOLDERS' EQUITY

(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020
Common Stock

Shares Amount
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss
Total 

Stockholders' Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2019 143.0 $ 1.4 $ 3,095.3 $ (2,018.6) $ (117.8) $ 960.3 
Net income — — — 550.2 — 550.2 
Equity-based compensation expense — — 26.0 — — 26.0 
Stock option exercises 0.9 — 26.9 — — 26.9 
Coworker Stock Purchase Plan — — 12.8 — — 12.8 
Repurchases of common stock (1.1) — — (140.8) — (140.8)
Dividends paid ($1.140 per share) — — 0.8 (163.2) — (162.4)
Incentive compensation plan stock withheld for taxes — — — (22.1) — (22.1)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (16.4) (16.4)
Unrealized loss from hedge accounting — — — — (0.6) (0.6)
Reclassification of hedge accounting loss to net income — — — — 4.1 4.1 
Impact of adoption of Topic 326 — — — 0.5 — 0.5 
Balance as of September 30, 2020 142.8 $ 1.4 $ 3,161.8 $ (1,794.0) $ (130.7) $ 1,238.5 

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Common Stock

Shares Amount
Paid-in 
Capital

Accumulated 
Deficit

Accumulated 
Other 

Comprehensive Loss
Total 

Stockholders' Equity

Balance as of December 31, 2018 147.7 $ 1.5 $ 2,996.9 $ (1,892.6) $ (130.6) $ 975.2 
Net income — — — 551.2 — 551.2 
Equity-based compensation expense — — 36.9 — — 36.9 
Stock option exercises 1.0 — 27.6 — — 27.6 
Coworker Stock Purchase Plan — — 11.2 — — 11.2 
Repurchases of common stock (4.8) (0.1) — (493.2) — (493.3)
Dividends paid ($0.885 per share) — — 0.6 (129.5) — (128.9)
Incentive compensation plan stock withheld for taxes — — — (21.3) — (21.3)
Foreign currency translation — — — — (12.7) (12.7)
Unrealized loss from hedge accounting — — — — (12.8) (12.8)
Reclassification of hedge accounting loss to net income — — — — 2.0 2.0 
Balance as of September 30, 2019 143.9 $ 1.4 $ 3,073.2 $ (1,985.4) $ (154.1) $ 935.1 

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES
CONSOLIDATED STATEMENTS OF CASH FLOWS

(dollars in millions)
(unaudited)

 Nine Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019
Cash flows from operating activities:
Net income $ 550.2 $ 551.2 
Adjustments to reconcile net income to net cash provided by operating activities:

Depreciation and amortization 349.0 197.5 
Equity-based compensation expense 26.0 37.7 
Deferred income taxes (2.5) (33.5)
Provision for credit losses 30.4 2.1 
Other 38.4 23.1 
Changes in assets and liabilities:

Accounts receivable (304.9) (171.8)
Merchandise inventory (34.2) (151.1)
Other assets (10.3) (82.2)
Accounts payable-trade 106.8 264.0 
Other liabilities (10.5) 45.3 

Net cash provided by operating activities 738.4 682.3 
Cash flows used in investing activities:

Capital expenditures (133.6) (75.0)
Acquisition of business, net of cash acquired (38.5) (75.0)
Net cash used in investing activities (172.1) (150.0)

Cash flows from financing activities:
Proceeds from borrowings under revolving credit facility 1,024.0 1,860.5 
Repayments of borrowings under revolving credit facility (1,075.0) (1,834.5)
Proceeds from issuance of long-term debt 1,300.0 600.0 
Payments to extinguish long-term debt (622.5) (538.1)
Net change in accounts payable-inventory financing 232.5 (17.4)
Repurchases of common stock (140.8) (493.3)
Payment of incentive compensation plan withholding taxes (22.1) (21.3)
Dividend payments (162.4) (128.9)
Other (2.0) 4.5 
Net cash provided by (used in) financing activities 531.7 (568.5)

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2.5) (2.7)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 1,095.5 (38.9)
Cash and cash equivalents—beginning of period 154.0 205.8 
Cash and cash equivalents—end of period $ 1,249.5 $ 166.9 
Supplementary disclosure of cash flow information:

Interest paid $ (90.5) $ (124.8)
Income taxes paid, net $ (196.4) $ (203.0)

The accompanying notes are an integral part of the Consolidated Financial Statements.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise noted)

1.    Description of Business and Summary of Significant Accounting Policies

Description of Business

CDW  Corporation  ("Parent"),  a  Fortune  500  company  and  member  of  the  S&P  500  Index,  is  a  market-leading  provider  of  integrated  information
technology ("IT") solutions to small, medium and large business, government, education and healthcare customers in the United States ("US"), the United
Kingdom ("UK") and Canada. The Company's offerings range from discrete hardware and software products to integrated IT solutions such as mobility,
security, data center optimization, cloud computing, virtualization and collaboration.

Throughout this report, the terms the "Company" and "CDW" refer to Parent and its 100% owned subsidiaries.

Parent has two 100% owned subsidiaries, CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corporation. CDW LLC is an Illinois limited liability company that,  together
with its 100% owned subsidiaries, holds all material assets and conducts all business activities and operations of the Company. CDW Finance Corporation
is a Delaware corporation formed for the sole purpose of acting as co-issuer of certain debt obligations and does not hold any material assets or engage in
any business activities or operations.

Basis of Presentation

The accompanying unaudited interim Consolidated Financial Statements as of September 30, 2020 and for the three and nine months ended September
30,  2020  and  2019  (the  "Consolidated  Financial  Statements")  have  been  prepared  in  conformity  with  accounting  principles  generally  accepted  in  the
United States of America ("US GAAP") and the rules and regulations of the US Securities and Exchange Commission (the "SEC") for interim financial
statements. Accordingly, certain information and footnote disclosures normally included in financial statements prepared in accordance with US GAAP
have been condensed or omitted pursuant to the rules and regulations of the SEC. These Consolidated Financial Statements should be read in conjunction
with the audited Consolidated Financial  Statements  and the notes  thereto  included in the Company's  Annual  Report  on Form 10-K for  the year  ended
December  31,  2019  (the  "December  31,  2019  Consolidated  Financial  Statements").  The  significant  accounting  policies  used  in  preparing  these
Consolidated Financial Statements were applied on a basis consistent with those reflected in the December 31, 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements.
In  the  opinion  of  management,  the  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  contain  all  adjustments  (consisting  of  a  normal,  recurring  nature)  necessary  to
present  fairly  the Company's  financial  position,  results  of  operations,  comprehensive  income,  cash flows and changes in stockholders'  equity as  of  the
dates and for the periods indicated. The unaudited results of operations for such interim periods reported are not necessarily indicative of results for the
full year.

Reclassifications

Certain prior period amounts have been reclassified to conform with current period presentation.

Principles of Consolidation

The Consolidated Financial Statements include the accounts of Parent and its 100% owned subsidiaries. All intercompany transactions and accounts are
eliminated in consolidation.

Use of Estimates

The preparation of the Consolidated Financial Statements in accordance with US GAAP requires management to make certain estimates and assumptions
that  affect  the  reported  amounts  of  assets  and liabilities  and disclosure  of  contingent  assets  and liabilities  as  of  the  date  of  the  Consolidated  Financial
Statements and the reported amounts of revenue and expenses during the reported periods. The Company bases its estimates on historical experience and
on various other assumptions that management believes are reasonable under the circumstances including management’s current assumptions with respect
to  implications  of  the  novel  coronavirus  (“COVID-19”)  pandemic,  the  results  of  which form the basis  for  making judgments  about  carrying values  of
assets and liabilities that are not readily apparent from other sources. Actual results and outcomes could differ from those estimates.

The notes to the Consolidated Financial Statements contained in the December 31, 2019 Consolidated Financial Statements include a discussion of the
Company's  significant  accounting  policies  and  estimates.  Except  as  noted  within  Note  2  (Recent  Accounting  Pronouncements)  for  the  adoption  of
Accounting Standards Update ("ASU") 2016-13,
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Financial Instruments - Credit Losses (Topic 326): Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments ("Topic 326"), there have been no changes to
the Company's significant accounting policies and estimates during the nine months ended September 30, 2020.

Accounts Receivable

The Company estimates an allowance for credit losses related to accounts receivable for future expected credit losses by using relevant information such
as  historical  information,  current  conditions,  and  reasonable  and  supportable  forecasts.  The  allowance  is  measured  on  a  pool  basis  when  similar  risk
characteristics exist, and a loss-rate for each pool is determined using historical credit loss experience as the basis for the estimation of expected credit
losses.  Adjustments  to  historical  loss  information  are  made  for  differences  in  current  conditions  as  well  as  changes  in  forecasted  macroeconomic
conditions, such as changes in the unemployment rate or gross domestic product growth rate. The Company has typically experienced a higher loss-rate
experience with customers in pools associated with the Company's Corporate and Small Business segments, as compared to the pools associated with the
Public segment. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020, the Company recognized an allowance of $30 million to reflect the forecasted credit
deterioration due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which considered the customer makeup and overall size of the Company's pools, the impacts experienced
to  date  and  the  impacts  from  the  last  significant  economic  downturn  in  2008-2009.  Due  to  the  higher  inherent  risk  in  the  pools  associated  with  the
Company's  Corporate  and  Small  Business  segments,  and  the  overall  size  of  certain  pools  within  the  Public  segment,  the  majority  of  the  additional
allowance  relates  to  these  segments.  As  the  overall  impact  and  duration  of  the  COVID-19  pandemic  remains  uncertain,  the  Company's  estimates  and
assumptions may evolve as conditions change.

Advertising

Advertising  costs  are  generally  charged  to  expense  in  the  period  incurred  and  recorded  in  Selling  and  administrative  expenses  in  the  Consolidated
Statements  of  Operations.  During  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020  and  2019,  the  Company  had  advertising  costs  of  $47  million  and  $51
million, respectively. During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company had advertising costs of $140 million and $143 million,
respectively.

2.    Recent Accounting Pronouncements

Reference Rate Reform

In  March  2020,  the  Financial  Accounting  Standards  Board  issued  ASU  2020-04,  Reference  Rate  Reform  (Topic  848):  Facilitation  of  the  Effects  of
Reference  Rate  Reform on  Financial  Reporting.  This  ASU temporarily  provides  optional  expedients  and  exceptions  for  applying  existing  guidance  to
contract  modifications,  hedging relationships  and other  transactions  that  are  expected to  be affected  by reference  rate  reform.  This  ASU was effective
upon its issuance and will remain in effect for all contract modifications and hedging relationships entered into through December 31, 2022. The adoption
of this ASU along with the related expedients did not have an impact to the Company’s Consolidated Financial Statements.

Measurement of Credit Losses on Financial Instruments

On January 1,  2020,  the Company adopted and applied Topic 326 using the modified retrospective approach.  Topic 326 introduced a forward-looking
approach based on expected losses to estimate credit losses on certain types of financial instruments, including trade receivables, which is reflected in the
Company’s  policies.  The  adoption  of  Topic  326,  as  well  as  the  adjustment  to  retained  earnings  for  the  cumulative  effect,  was  not  significant  to  the
Company's Consolidated Financial Statements.

3.    Inventory Financing Agreements

The Company has entered into agreements with certain financial intermediaries to facilitate the purchase of inventory from various suppliers under certain
terms and conditions, as described below. These amounts are classified separately as Accounts payable-inventory financing on the Consolidated Balance
Sheets. The Company does not incur any interest expense associated with these agreements as balances are paid when they are due.
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise noted)

Amounts included in Accounts payable-inventory financing are as follows:

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Revolving Loan inventory financing agreement $ 608.9 $ 379.1 
Other inventory financing agreements 52.3 50.8 
Accounts payable-inventory financing $ 661.2 $ 429.9 

(1) The  senior  secured  asset-based  revolving  credit  facility  includes  an  inventory  floorplan  sub-facility  that  enables  the  Company  to  maintain  an
inventory financing agreement with a financial intermediary to facilitate the purchase of inventory from certain vendors on more favorable terms
than offered directly by the vendors.

4.    Contract Liabilities and Performance Obligations

The Company's contract liabilities consist of payments received from customers, or such consideration that is contractually due, in advance of providing
the product  or  performing services.  The Company's contract  liabilities  are reported in a  net  position on a contract-by-contract basis  at  the end of  each
reporting  period.  As  of  September  30,  2020  and  December  31,  2019,  the  contract  liability  balance  was  $247  million  and  $252  million,  respectively.
During the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, the Company recognized revenue of $157 million and $117 million, respectively, related to
its contract liabilities.

A contract's transaction price is allocated to each distinct performance obligation and recognized as revenue when, or as, the performance obligation is
satisfied.  The  following  table  represents  the  total  transaction  price  for  the  remaining  performance  obligations  as  of  September  30,  2020  related  to
noncancelable contracts longer than 12 months in duration that is expected to be recognized over future periods.

Within 1 Year Years 1-2 Years 2-3 Thereafter
Remaining performance obligations $ 32.2 $ 20.6 $ 6.9 $ 0.3 

5.    Financial Instruments

The Company's indebtedness creates interest rate risk on its variable-rate debt. The Company uses derivative financial instruments to manage its exposure
to interest rate risk. The Company does not hold or issue derivative financial instruments for trading or speculative purposes.

The  Company has  interest  rate  cap  agreements  that  entitle  it  to  payments  from the  counterparty  of  the  amount,  if  any,  by  which three-month  London
Interbank Offered Rate ("LIBOR") exceeds the strike rates of the caps during the agreement period in exchange for an upfront premium. During 2020, the
Company did not enter into interest rate cap agreements.

As of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, the Company had interest rate cap agreements with a fair value of less than $1 million, which were
classified  within  Other  assets  on  the  Consolidated  Balance  Sheets.  The  total  notional  value  of  the  interest  rate  cap  agreements  was  $2.8  billion  as  of
September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, of which $1.4 billion mature at December 31, 2020 and December 31, 2022, respectively.

The fair values of the Company's interest rate cap agreements are classified as Level 2 in the fair value hierarchy. The valuation of the interest rate cap
agreements  is  derived by using a discounted cash flow analysis  on the expected cash receipts  that  would occur if  variable interest  rates  rise above the
strike  rates  of  the  caps.  This  analysis  reflects  the  contractual  terms  of  the  interest  rate  cap  agreements,  including  the  period  to  maturity,  and  uses
observable  market-based  inputs,  including  LIBOR  curves  and  implied  volatilities.  The  Company  also  incorporates  insignificant  credit  valuation
adjustments to appropriately reflect the respective counterparty's nonperformance risk in the fair value measurements. The counterparty credit spreads are
based on publicly available credit information obtained from a third-party credit data provider. For additional information, see Note 6 (Long-Term Debt).

(1)
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CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise noted)

The interest  rate cap agreements  are designated as cash flow hedges.  The changes in the fair  value of derivatives  that  qualify as cash flow hedges are
recorded  in  Accumulated  other  comprehensive  loss  ("AOCL")  and  are  subsequently  reclassified  into  Interest  expense  in  the  period  when  the  hedged
forecasted transaction affects earnings. The following tables provide the activity in AOCL, net of tax, for the three and nine months ended September 30,
2020 and September 30, 2019.

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Change in fair value recorded to AOCL $ (0.4) $ (0.4) $ (0.6) $ (12.8)
Reclassification from AOCL to Interest expense, net $ 1.6 $ 0.3 $ 4.1 $ 2.0 

The Company expects to reclassify $5 million from AOCL to earnings within Interest expense, net during the next 12 months.

6.    Long-Term Debt

As of September 30, 2020 As of December 31, 2019
Maturity Date Interest Rate Amount Interest Rate Amount

Credit Facilities
CDW UK revolving credit facility July 2021 — % $ — — % $ — 
Senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility March 2022 — % — 5.000 % 51.0 

Total credit facilities — 51.0 

Term Loans
CDW UK term loan August 2021 1.464 % 53.0 2.190 % 61.0 
Senior secured term loan facility October 2026 1.900 % 1,427.1 3.550 % 1,438.3 

Total term loans 1,480.1 1,499.3 

Unsecured Senior Notes
Senior notes due 2024 December 2024 5.500 % 575.0 5.500 % 575.0 
Senior notes due 2025 May 2025 4.125 % 600.0 — % — 
Senior notes due 2025 September 2025 — % — 5.000 % 600.0 
Senior notes due 2028 April 2028 4.250 % 600.0 4.250 % 600.0 
Senior notes due 2029 February 2029 3.250 % 700.0 — % — 

Total unsecured senior notes 2,475.0 1,775.0 

Other long-term obligations 4.4 12.6 
Unamortized deferred financing fees (28.6) (20.6)
Current maturities of long-term debt (72.3) (34.1)
Total long-term debt $ 3,858.6 $ 3,283.2 

(1) British pound-denominated debt facilities.

As of September 30, 2020, the Company is in compliance with the covenants under the various credit agreements and indentures.

Credit Facilities

The Company has a variable rate CDW UK revolving credit facility that is denominated in British pounds. As of September 30, 2020, the Company could
have borrowed up to an additional £50 million ($65 million) under the CDW UK revolving credit facility.

(1)

(1)
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The Company also has a variable rate senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility (the "Revolving Loan") that is denominated in US dollars. The
Revolving Loan is used by the Company for borrowings, issuances of letters of credit and floorplan financing. As of September 30, 2020, the Revolving
Loan had less than $1 million of undrawn letters of credit, $594 million reserved for the floorplan sub-facility and a borrowing base of $2.4 billion, which
is based on the amount of eligible inventory and accounts receivable balances as of August 31, 2020. As of September 30, 2020, the Company could have
borrowed up to an additional $856 million under the Revolving Loan.

The Revolving Loan is collateralized by a first priority interest in inventory (excluding inventory to the extent collateralized under the inventory financing
arrangements  as  described  in  Note  3  (Inventory  Financing  Agreements)),  deposits  and  accounts  receivable,  and  by  a  second  priority  interest  in
substantially all other US assets.

Term Loans

The CDW UK term loan has a variable interest rate with the remaining principal amount due at the maturity date. The CDW UK term loan agreement
imposes  restrictions  on  CDW  UK's  ability  to  transfer  funds  to  the  Company  through  the  payment  of  dividends,  repayment  of  intercompany  loans,
advances or subordinated debt that require, among other things, the maintenance of a minimum net leverage ratio. As of September 30, 2020, the amount
of restricted payment capacity under the CDW UK term loan was £173 million ($223 million).

The senior secured term loan facility (the "Term Loan") has a variable interest rate, which has effectively been capped through the use of interest rate caps
(see Note 5 (Financial Instruments)). The interest rate disclosed in the table above represents the variable interest rates in effect for September 30, 2020
and December 31, 2019, respectively. The Company is required to pay quarterly principal installments of $4 million with the remaining principal amount
due at the maturity date. As of September 30, 2020, the amount of CDW's restricted payment capacity under the Term Loan was $2.1 billion.

The  Term Loan  is  collateralized  by  a  second  priority  interest  in  substantially  all  inventory  (excluding  inventory  to  the  extent  collateralized  under  the
inventory  financing  arrangements  as  described  in  Note  3  (Inventory  Financing  Agreements),  deposits  and  accounts  receivable,  and  by  a  first  priority
interest in substantially all other US assets.

Unsecured Senior Notes

The senior notes have fixed interest rates, for which interest is paid semi-annually.

On April 21, 2020, CDW completed the issuance of $600 million aggregate principal amount of 4.125% Senior Notes due 2025 at par. The 2025 Senior
Notes will mature on May 1, 2025 and bear interest of 4.125% per annum, payable semi-annually on May 1 and November 1 of each year, commencing
November 1, 2020.

On August 13, 2020, CDW completed the issuance of $700 million aggregate principal amount of 3.25% Senior Notes due 2029 at par. The 2029 Senior
Notes  will  mature  on  February  15,  2029  and  bear  interest  of  3.25%  per  annum,  payable  semi-annually  on  February  15  and  August  15  of  each  year,
commencing February 15, 2021. The net proceeds from the issuance were primarily used to redeem all of the remaining $600 million aggregate principal
amount of the 5.000% Senior Notes due September 2025 at a redemption price of 103.75% of the principal amount redeemed, plus accrued and unpaid
interest to the date of redemption, to pay fees and expenses related to the issuance and redemption, and for general corporate purposes.

Fair Value

The  fair  values  of  the  Senior  Notes  were  estimated  using  quoted  market  prices  for  identical  liabilities  that  are  traded  in  over-the-counter  secondary
markets that are not considered active. The fair value of the Term Loan was estimated using dealer quotes for identical liabilities in markets that are not
considered active. The Senior Notes, Term Loan and CDW UK term loan are classified as Level 2 within the fair value hierarchy. The carrying value of
the Revolving Loan and CDW UK revolving credit facility approximate fair value if there are outstanding borrowings.
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The  approximate  fair  values  and  related  carrying  values  of  the  Company's  long-term  debt,  including  current  maturities  and  excluding  unamortized
discount and unamortized deferred financing fees, are as follows:

September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Fair value $ 4,026.1 $ 3,447.5 
Carrying value 3,959.5 3,337.9 

7.    Income Taxes

On  March  27,  2020,  the  Coronavirus  Aid,  Relief,  and  Economic  Security  Act  ("CARES  Act")  was  enacted  into  law.  The  primary  impact  to  the
Company’s financial statements as a result of the CARES Act was the deferral of US corporate income tax payments from the second quarter of 2020 to
July 2020, as well as the deferral of employer related payroll tax payments from the second, third and fourth quarters of 2020 with 50% to be paid in the
fourth quarter of 2021 and the remaining 50% to be paid in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Income  tax  expense  was  $57  million  and  $59  million  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020  and  2019,  respectively.  The  effective  tax  rate,
expressed by calculating the income tax expense as a percentage of Income before income taxes, was 22.7% for both the three months ended September
30, 2020 and 2019. The effective tax rates differed from the US statutory rate of 21.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2020 primarily due to
state  and  local  income taxes  and  a  discrete  deferred  tax  expense  as  a  result  of  an  increase  in  the  UK corporate  tax  rate,  partially  offset  by  excess  tax
benefits  on equity-based  compensation.  The effective  tax rate  differed  from the US statutory  rate  of  21.0% for  the  three  months  ended September  30,
2019 primarily due to state and local income taxes, partially offset by excess tax benefits on equity-based compensation.

Income tax expense was $157 million and $163 million for the nine months ended September 30,  2020 and 2019, respectively.  The effective tax rate,
expressed by calculating the income tax expense as a percentage of Income before income taxes, was 22.2% for the nine months ended September 30,
2020 and differed  from the US federal  statutory  rate  of  21.0% with  state  and local  income taxes  and a  discrete  deferred  tax  expense as  a  result  of  an
increase in the UK corporate tax rate being largely offset by excess tax benefits on equity-based compensation. The effective tax rate for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019 was 22.8% and differed from the US federal statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state and local income taxes, partially
offset  by  excess  tax  benefits  on  equity-based  compensation  and  a  discrete  tax  benefit  related  to  CDW  Canada's  acquisition  of  Scalar  Decisions  Inc.
("Scalar") in 2019.

8.    Earnings Per Share

The numerator for both basic and diluted earnings per share is Net income. The denominator for basic earnings per share is the weighted-average shares
outstanding during the period.

A reconciliation of basic weighted-average shares outstanding to diluted weighted-average shares outstanding is as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30, Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019 2020 2019

Basic weighted-average shares outstanding 142.7 144.5 142.6 145.7 
Effect of dilutive securities 2.1 2.7 2.1 2.5 
Diluted weighted-average shares outstanding 144.8 147.2 144.7 148.2 

(1) The dilutive effect of outstanding stock options, restricted stock units, restricted stock, performance share units and Coworker Stock Purchase
Plan units is reflected in the diluted weighted-average shares outstanding using the treasury stock method.

(2) There were fewer than 0.1 million potential common shares excluded from diluted weighted-average shares outstanding for both the three and
nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 as their inclusion would have had an anti-dilutive effect.

(1)

(2)

14



Table of Contents
CDW CORPORATION AND SUBSIDIARIES

NOTES TO CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
(dollars in millions, except per share data, unless otherwise noted)

9.    Commitments and Contingencies

The  Company  is  party  to  various  legal  proceedings  that  arise  in  the  ordinary  course  of  its  business,  which  include  commercial,  intellectual  property,
employment,  tort  and  other  litigation  matters.  The  Company  is  also  subject  to  audit  by  federal,  state,  international,  national,  provincial  and  local
authorities, and by various partners, group purchasing organizations and customers, including government agencies, relating to purchases and sales under
various  contracts.  In  addition,  the  Company  is  subject  to  indemnification  claims  under  various  contracts.  From time  to  time,  certain  customers  of  the
Company file voluntary petitions for reorganization or liquidation under the US bankruptcy laws or similar laws of the jurisdictions for the Company's
business  activities  outside of  the US. In such cases,  certain pre-petition payments  received by the Company could be considered preference items and
subject to return to the bankruptcy administrator.

As  of  September  30,  2020,  the  Company  does  not  believe  that  there  is  a  reasonable  possibility  that  any  material  loss  exceeding  the  amounts  already
recognized for these proceedings and matters, if any, has been incurred. However, the ultimate resolutions of these proceedings and matters are inherently
unpredictable.  As  such,  the  Company's  consolidated  financial  statements  could  be  adversely  affected  in  any  particular  period  by  the  unfavorable
resolution of one or more of these proceedings or matters.
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10.    Segment Information

The  Company  has  three  reportable  segments:  Corporate,  which  is  comprised  primarily  of  US  private  sector  business  customers  with  more  than  250
employees, Small Business, which primarily serves US private sector business customers with up to 250 employees, and Public, which is comprised of
government agencies and education and healthcare institutions in the US. The Company has two other operating segments: CDW UK and CDW Canada,
both of which do not meet the reportable segment quantitative thresholds and, accordingly, are included in an all other category ("Other"). Headquarters
function costs that are not allocated to the segments are included under the heading of "Headquarters" in the tables below.

Information about the Company's segments is as follows:

Corporate
Small

Business Public Other Headquarters Total
Three Months Ended September 30, 2020
Net sales $ 1,660.0 $ 337.0 $ 2,293.8 $ 465.6 $ — $ 4,756.4 
Operating income (loss) 128.5 24.3 196.1 18.7 (49.8) 317.8 
Depreciation and amortization expense (22.4) (5.6) (77.2) (8.4) (18.8) (132.4)

Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Net sales $ 1,913.5 $ 386.2 $ 2,100.9 $ 507.1 $ — $ 4,907.7 
Operating income (loss) 138.9 27.2 168.4 21.9 (35.8) 320.6 
Depreciation and amortization expense (21.7) (5.6) (15.0) (7.9) (18.0) (68.2)

Corporate Small Business Public Other Headquarters Total
Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020
Net sales $ 5,128.5 $ 1,030.6 $ 5,841.2 $ 1,511.0 $ — $ 13,511.3 
Operating income (loss) 378.9 72.6 468.4 49.9 (122.8) 847.0 
Depreciation and amortization expense (66.8) (17.0) (184.0) (24.3) (56.9) (349.0)

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Net sales $ 5,533.6 $ 1,119.2 $ 5,271.7 $ 1,571.0 $ — $ 13,495.5 
Operating income (loss) 430.8 78.2 373.9 66.6 (99.7) 849.8 
Depreciation and amortization expense (64.8) (16.8) (41.4) (23.1) (51.4) (197.5)
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Geographic Areas and Revenue Mix

 Three Months Ended September 30, 2020
Corporate Small Business Public Other Total

Geography
United States $ 1,658.4 $ 337.0 $ 2,293.8 $ 6.1 $ 4,295.3 
Rest of World 1.6 — — 459.5 461.1 

Total Net sales 1,660.0 337.0 2,293.8 465.6 4,756.4 

Major Product and Services
Hardware 1,252.0 281.7 1,917.8 340.7 3,792.2 
Software 284.9 43.3 304.7 73.2 706.1 
Services 107.1 7.0 63.8 49.5 227.4 
Other 16.0 5.0 7.5 2.2 30.7 

Total Net sales 1,660.0 337.0 2,293.8 465.6 4,756.4 

Sales by Channel
Corporate 1,660.0 — — — 1,660.0 
Small Business — 337.0 — — 337.0 
Government — — 847.7 — 847.7 
Education — — 1,078.2 — 1,078.2 
Healthcare — — 367.9 — 367.9 
Other — — — 465.6 465.6 

Total Net sales 1,660.0 337.0 2,293.8 465.6 4,756.4 

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is principal 1,474.2 313.9 2,080.3 407.7 4,276.1 
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is agent 121.3 20.9 89.3 13.9 245.4 
Transferred over time where CDW is principal 64.5 2.2 124.2 44.0 234.9 

Total Net sales $ 1,660.0 $ 337.0 $ 2,293.8 $ 465.6 $ 4,756.4 

(1) Net sales by geography is generally based on the ship-to address with the exception of certain services that may be performed at, or on behalf of,
multiple locations. Such service arrangements are categorized based on the bill-to address.

(2) Includes items such as delivery charges to customers.

(1)

(2)
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 Three Months Ended September 30, 2019
Corporate Small Business Public Other Total

Geography
United States $ 1,910.9 $ 386.2 $ 2,100.9 $ 7.6 $ 4,405.6 
Rest of World 2.6 — — 499.5 502.1 

Total Net sales 1,913.5 386.2 2,100.9 507.1 4,907.7 

Major Product and Services
Hardware 1,533.2 326.7 1,722.8 358.5 3,941.2 
Software 263.6 47.4 313.2 65.7 689.9 
Services 98.2 6.7 58.7 80.2 243.8 
Other 18.5 5.4 6.2 2.7 32.8 

Total Net sales 1,913.5 386.2 2,100.9 507.1 4,907.7 

Sales by Channel
Corporate 1,913.5 — — — 1,913.5 
Small Business — 386.2 — — 386.2 
Government — — 793.4 — 793.4 
Education — — 807.0 — 807.0 
Healthcare — — 500.5 — 500.5 
Other — — — 507.1 507.1 

Total Net sales 1,913.5 386.2 2,100.9 507.1 4,907.7 

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is principal 1,743.4 364.0 1,939.3 443.8 4,490.5 
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is agent 111.0 19.6 79.6 15.5 225.7 
Transferred over time where CDW is principal 59.1 2.6 82.0 47.8 191.5 

Total Net sales $ 1,913.5 $ 386.2 $ 2,100.9 $ 507.1 $ 4,907.7 

(1) Net sales by geography is generally based on the ship-to address with the exception of certain services that may be performed at, or on behalf of,
multiple locations. Such service arrangements are categorized based on the bill-to address.

(2) Includes items such as delivery charges to customers.

(1)

(2)
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 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020
Corporate Small Business Public Other Total

Geography
United States $ 5,109.1 $ 1,030.6 $ 5,841.2 $ 16.1 $ 11,997.0 
Rest of World 19.4 — — 1,494.9 1,514.3 

Total Net sales 5,128.5 1,030.6 5,841.2 1,511.0 13,511.3 

Major Product and Services
Hardware 3,978.4 853.7 4,855.9 1,096.0 10,784.0 
Software 799.2 139.5 764.3 238.8 1,941.8 
Services 300.0 22.4 197.9 169.4 689.7 
Other 50.9 15.0 23.1 6.8 95.8 

Total Net sales 5,128.5 1,030.6 5,841.2 1,511.0 13,511.3 

Sales by Channel
Corporate 5,128.5 — — — 5,128.5 
Small Business — 1,030.6 — — 1,030.6 
Government — — 2,135.9 — 2,135.9 
Education — — 2,431.2 — 2,431.2 
Healthcare — — 1,274.1 — 1,274.1 
Other — — — 1,511.0 1,511.0 

Total Net sales 5,128.5 1,030.6 5,841.2 1,511.0 13,511.3 

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is principal 4,602.4 961.3 5,339.1 1,332.9 12,235.7 
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is agent 341.1 61.8 209.9 41.9 654.7 
Transferred over time where CDW is principal 185.0 7.5 292.2 136.2 620.9 

Total Net sales $ 5,128.5 $ 1,030.6 $ 5,841.2 $ 1,511.0 $ 13,511.3 

(1) Net sales by geography is generally based on the ship-to address with the exception of certain services that may be performed at, or on behalf of,
multiple locations. Such service arrangements are categorized based on the bill-to address.

(2) Includes items such as delivery charges to customers.

(1)

(2)
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 Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019
Corporate Small Business Public Other Total

Geography
United States $ 5,525.5 $ 1,119.2 $ 5,271.7 $ 24.8 $ 11,941.2 
Rest of World 8.1 — — 1,546.2 1,554.3 

Total Net sales 5,533.6 1,119.2 5,271.7 1,571.0 13,495.5 

Major Product and Services
Hardware 4,417.2 938.3 4,323.2 1,143.8 10,822.5 
Software 777.4 144.2 783.1 212.4 1,917.1 
Services 285.9 20.7 150.0 206.3 662.9 
Other 53.1 16.0 15.4 8.5 93.0 

Total Net sales 5,533.6 1,119.2 5,271.7 1,571.0 13,495.5 

Sales by Channel
Corporate 5,533.6 — — — 5,533.6 
Small Business — 1,119.2 — — 1,119.2 
Government — — 1,860.2 — 1,860.2 
Education — — 1,981.0 — 1,981.0 
Healthcare — — 1,430.5 — 1,430.5 
Other — — — 1,571.0 1,571.0 

Total Net sales 5,533.6 1,119.2 5,271.7 1,571.0 13,495.5 

Timing of Revenue Recognition
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is principal 5,033.4 1,054.7 4,908.0 1,383.7 12,379.8 
Transferred at a point in time where CDW is agent 333.7 59.4 190.9 42.0 626.0 
Transferred over time where CDW is principal 166.5 5.1 172.8 145.3 489.7 

Total Net sales $ 5,533.6 $ 1,119.2 $ 5,271.7 $ 1,571.0 $ 13,495.5 

(1) Net sales by geography is generally based on the ship-to address with the exception of certain services that may be performed at, or on behalf of,
multiple locations. Such service arrangements are categorized based on the bill-to address.

(2) Includes items such as delivery charges to customers.

(1)

(2)
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The following table presents Net sales by major category for the three and nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019. Categories are based upon
internal classifications.

 Three Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019

Net Sales

Percentage 
of Total Net 

Sales Net Sales

Percentage 
of Total Net 

Sales
Notebooks/Mobile Devices $ 1,384.7 29.1 % $ 1,253.2 25.5 %
Netcomm Products 525.8 11.1 566.7 11.5 
Desktops 245.9 5.2 433.2 8.8 
Video 315.9 6.6 353.4 7.2 
Enterprise and Data Storage (Including Drives) 249.1 5.2 283.8 5.8 
Other Hardware 1,070.8 22.5 1,050.9 21.4 

Total Hardware 3,792.2 79.7 3,941.2 80.2 

Software 706.1 14.8 689.9 14.1 
Services 227.4 4.8 243.8 5.0 
Other 30.7 0.7 32.8 0.7 
Total Net sales $ 4,756.4 100.0 % $ 4,907.7 100.0 %

 Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019

Net Sales

Percentage 
of Total Net 

Sales Net Sales

Percentage 
of Total Net 

Sales
Notebooks/Mobile Devices $ 3,923.1 29.0 % $ 3,334.2 24.7 %
Netcomm Products 1,453.5 10.8 1,639.7 12.1 
Desktops 882.5 6.5 1,148.6 8.5 
Video 877.3 6.5 973.2 7.2 
Enterprise and Data Storage (Including Drives) 690.0 5.1 850.8 6.3 
Other Hardware 2,957.6 21.9 2,876.0 21.4 

Total Hardware 10,784.0 79.8 10,822.5 80.2 

Software 1,941.8 14.4 1,917.1 14.2 
Services 689.7 5.1 662.9 4.9 
Other 95.8 0.7 93.0 0.7 
Total Net sales $ 13,511.3 100.0 % $ 13,495.5 100.0 %

(1) Certain software and services revenues are recorded on a net basis for accounting purposes. As a result, the category percentage of net revenues
is not representative of the category percentage of gross profits.

(2) Includes items such as delivery charges to customers.

(1)

(1)

(2)

(1)

(1)

(2)
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Item 2. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations
Unless  otherwise  indicated  or  the  context  otherwise  requires,  as  used  in  this  "Management's  Discussion  and  Analysis  of  Financial  Condition  and  Results  of
Operations," the terms "we," "us," "the Company," "our," "CDW" and similar terms refer to CDW Corporation and its subsidiaries. "Management's Discussion
and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" should be read in conjunction with the unaudited interim Consolidated Financial Statements and
the related notes included elsewhere in this report and with the audited Consolidated Financial Statements and the related notes included in the Company's Annual
Report  on  Form  10-K  for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2019.  This  discussion  contains  forward-looking  statements  that  are  subject  to  numerous  risks  and
uncertainties. Actual results may differ materially from those contained in any forward-looking statements. See "Forward-Looking Statements" at the end of this
discussion.

Overview

CDW Corporation, a Fortune 500 company and member of the S&P 500 Index, is a market-leading provider of integrated information technology ("IT") solutions
to small, medium and large business, government, education and healthcare customers in the US, the UK and Canada. Our broad array of offerings ranges from
discrete  hardware  and  software  products  to  integrated  IT  solutions  such  as  mobility,  security,  data  center  optimization,  cloud  computing,  virtualization  and
collaboration.

We are technology "agnostic," with a solutions portfolio including more than 100,000 products and services from more than 1,000 leading and emerging brands.
Our solutions are delivered in physical, virtual and cloud-based environments through approximately 6,800 customer-facing coworkers, including sellers, highly-
skilled  technology  specialists  and  advanced  service  delivery  engineers.  We  are  a  leading  sales  channel  partner  for  many  original  equipment  manufacturers
("OEMs"), software publishers and cloud providers (collectively, our "vendor partners"), whose products we sell or include in the solutions we offer. We provide
our vendor partners with a cost-effective way to reach customers and deliver a consistent brand experience through our established end-market coverage, technical
expertise and extensive customer access.

We have three  reportable  segments,  Corporate,  Small  Business  and Public.  Our  Corporate  segment  primarily  serves  US private  sector  business  customers  with
more than 250 employees. Our Small Business segment primarily serves US private sector business customers with up to 250 employees. Our Public segment is
comprised of government agencies and education and healthcare institutions in the US. We also have two other operating segments: CDW UK and CDW Canada,
each of which do not meet the reportable segment quantitative thresholds and, accordingly, are included in an all other category ("Other").

We  may  sell  all  or  only  select  products  that  our  vendor  partners  offer.  Each  vendor  partner  agreement  provides  for  specific  terms  and  conditions,  which  may
include one or more of the following: product return privileges, price protection policies, purchase discounts and vendor incentive programs, such as purchase or
sales rebates and cooperative advertising reimbursements. We also resell software for major software publishers. Our agreements with software publishers allow
the end-user customer to acquire software or licensed products and services. In addition to helping our customers determine the best software solutions for their
needs, we help them manage their software agreements,  including warranties and renewals. A significant portion of our advertising and marketing expenses are
reimbursed through cooperative advertising programs with our vendor partners. These programs are at the discretion of our vendor partners and are typically tied to
sales or other commitments to be met by us within a specified period of time.

Key Business Metrics

We monitor a number of financial and non-financial measures and ratios on a regular basis in order to track the progress of our business and make adjustments as
necessary. We believe that the most important of these measures and ratios include average daily sales, gross margin, operating margin, Net income, Non-GAAP
operating  income,  Non-GAAP  operating  income  margin,  Non-GAAP  income  before  income  taxes,  Non-GAAP  net  income,  Net  sales  growth  on  a  constant
currency basis, Net income per diluted share, Non-GAAP net income per diluted share, free cash flow, return on working capital, Cash and cash equivalents, net
working capital, cash conversion cycle, debt levels including available credit, sales per coworker and coworker turnover. These measures and ratios are compared
to standards or objectives set by management, so that actions can be taken, as necessary, in order to achieve the standards and objectives.

In this report, we discuss Non-GAAP operating income, Non-GAAP operating income margin, Non-GAAP income before income taxes, Non-GAAP net income
and Net sales growth on a constant currency basis, which are non-GAAP financial measures.

We believe these measures provide analysts, investors and management with helpful information regarding the underlying operating performance of our business,
as they remove the impact of items that management believes are not reflective of underlying operating performance. Management uses these measures to evaluate
period-over-period performance as management believes they provide a more comparable measure of the underlying business. For the definitions of Non-GAAP
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operating  income,  Non-GAAP  operating  income  margin,  Non-GAAP  income  before  income  taxes,  Non-GAAP  net  income,  Net  sales  growth  on  a  constant
currency  basis  and  reconciliations  to  the  most  directly  comparable  US  GAAP  measure,  see  "Results  of  Operations  -  Non-GAAP  Financial  Measure
Reconciliations."

Third Quarter Overview

The results of certain business metrics are as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Net sales $ 4,756.4 $ 4,907.7 
Gross profit 825.5 816.5 
Operating income 317.8 320.6 
Net income 193.2 201.7 
Non-GAAP operating income 386.3 380.4 
Non-GAAP net income 265.4 249.9 
Average daily sales 74.3 76.7 
Net debt 2,681.4 3,117.5 
Cash conversion cycle (in days) 16 17

(1)    There were 64 selling days for both the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

(2)    Defined as Total debt minus Cash and cash equivalents.

(3)     Cash  conversion  cycle  is  defined  as  days  of  sales  outstanding  in  Accounts  receivable  and  certain  receivables  due  from  vendors  plus  days  of  supply  in
Merchandise inventory minus days of  purchases outstanding in Accounts payable and Accounts payable-inventory financing,  based on a rolling three-
month average.

Trends and Key Factors Affecting our Financial Performance

We believe the following key factors may have a meaningful impact on our business performance, influencing our ability to generate sales and achieve our targeted
financial and operating results:

• General economic conditions are a key factor affecting our results as they impact our customers' willingness to spend on information technology. This is
particularly the case for our Corporate and Small Business customers, as their purchases tend to reflect confidence in their business prospects, which are
driven  by  their  discrete  perceptions  of  business  and  general  economic  conditions.  Additionally,  changes  in  trade  policy  and  product  constraints  from
suppliers could have an adverse impact on our business.

• The global spread of the novel coronavirus ("COVID-19") pandemic continues to create significant macroeconomic uncertainty, volatility and disruption.
The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic continues to impact our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and liquidity will
depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot be predicted, including, but not limited to, the duration, severity and further spread
of the outbreak, future resurgences and reimplementation of closures, actions taken to contain the virus or treat its impact and the effectiveness of these
actions and how quickly and to what extent normal economic and operating conditions can resume and be sustained. We have mobilized our resources to
help ensure the well-being and safety of our coworkers, business continuity, a strong capital position and adequate liquidity. Our efforts have included:

• Continued  focus  on  the  well-being  and  safety  of  our  coworkers,  leveraging  standing  crisis  management  protocols  and  following  guidelines  from
public health authorities and state and local governments. During the first quarter of 2020, we implemented precautions to help keep our coworkers
healthy and safe, including activating a cross-functional response team led by senior leadership, moving to remote work for our office coworkers, and
implementing  safety  protocols  at  our  distribution  centers,  including  social  distancing  measures,  segmented  shifts,  additional  personal  protective
equipment,  enhanced  facility  cleanings,  and  temperature  screening  for  anyone  entering  the  facilities.  All  distribution  and  configuration  centers
continue to be operational. Our office coworkers continue to work remotely.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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• Remote enablement, operations continuity, and security are customer focus areas to manage remote environments at scale and to prepare to be remote
longer.  Customers  are  focused  on  initiatives  to  reduce  costs,  optimize  resources,  and  leverage  technology  for  better  customer  and  employee
experiences  through digital  transformation.  We have  orchestrated  solutions  by  leveraging  client  devices,  accessories,  collaboration  tools,  security,
software and cloud offerings to help customers build these capabilities and achieve their objectives.

• Increasing  our  provision  for  credit  losses  during  the  nine  months  ended  September  30,  2020  as  a  result  of  the  expected  economic  impact  of  the
COVID-19 pandemic. We continue to monitor cash collections and credit limits of our customers to manage the risk of uncollectible receivables.

• Closely  monitoring  our  cost  structure  relative  to  the  overall  demand  environment.  We  have  taken  measures  to  enhance  liquidity,  including
completing  a  $600  million  senior  notes  issuance  in  April  2020,  leveraging  the  lower  interest  rate  environment  by  refinancing  one  of  our  higher
interest rate senior notes in August 2020, and implementing cost savings initiatives. We temporarily suspended share repurchases from March 2020
through October 2020. In November 2020, we announced the resumption of our share repurchase program.

• Changes  in  spending  policies,  budget  priorities  and  funding  levels  are  a  key  factor  influencing  the  purchasing  levels  of  Government,  Healthcare  and
Education  customers.  Given  the  COVID-19  pandemic,  Education  customers  have  prioritized  their  budgets  towards  IT  spending  while  Healthcare
customer budgets have been pressured. As the duration and ongoing economic impacts of the COVID-19 pandemic remain uncertain, current and future
budget priorities and funding levels for Government, Healthcare and Education customers may be adversely affected.

• Technology  trends  drive  customer  purchasing  behaviors  in  the  market.  Current  technology  trends  are  focused  on  delivering  greater  flexibility  and
efficiency, as well as designing IT securely. These trends are driving customer adoption of solutions such as those delivered via cloud, software defined
architectures and hybrid on-premise and off-premise combinations, as well as the evolution of the IT consumption model to more "as a service" offerings,
including Device as a Service and managed services. Technology trends could also change as customers consider the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic
on their operations.

• There continues to be substantial uncertainty regarding the impact of the UK's exit from the European Union ("EU") (referred to as "Brexit"), with the
UK/EU  future  trade  deal  still  being  negotiated.  Potential  adverse  consequences  of  Brexit  such  as  global  market  uncertainty,  volatility  in  currency
exchange rates, greater restrictions on imports and exports between UK and EU countries and increased regulatory complexities could have a negative
impact  on our  business,  financial  condition  and results  of  operations.  Prior  to  the  impact  of  the  COVID-19 pandemic,  CDW UK had not  experienced
significant  changes in the buying behavior of its  customers.  We have established a presence in the Netherlands to support  CDW UK's broader growth
opportunities in the EU and to help address future developments, as needed, for Brexit.
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Results of Operations

Three Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Three Months Ended September 30, 2019

Results of operations, in dollars and as a percentage of Net sales are as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019

 
Dollars in 
Millions

Percentage of 
Net Sales

Dollars in 
Millions

Percentage of 
Net Sales

Net sales $ 4,756.4 100.0 % $ 4,907.7 100.0 %
Cost of sales 3,930.9 82.6 4,091.2 83.4 
Gross profit 825.5 17.4 816.5 16.6 
Selling and administrative expenses 507.7 10.7 495.9 10.1 
Operating income 317.8 6.7 320.6 6.5 
Interest expense, net (40.2) (0.8) (42.3) (0.9)
Other expense, net (27.5) (0.6) (17.4) (0.3)
Income before income taxes 250.1 5.3 260.9 5.3 
Income tax expense (56.9) (1.2) (59.2) (1.2)
Net income $ 193.2 4.1 % $ 201.7 4.1 %

Net sales

Net sales by segment, in dollars and as a percentage of total Net sales, and the year-over-year dollar and percentage change in Net sales are as follows:

 Three Months Ended September 30,   
 2020 2019  

(dollars in millions) Net Sales
Percentage 

of Total Net Sales Net Sales
Percentage 

of Total Net Sales
Dollar 
Change

Percent
Change

Corporate $ 1,660.0 34.9 % $ 1,913.5 39.0 % $ (253.5) (13.2)%

Small Business 337.0 7.1 386.2 7.9 (49.2) (12.7)

Public:
Government 847.7 17.8 793.4 16.2 54.3 6.8 
Education 1,078.2 22.7 807.0 16.4 271.2 33.6 
Healthcare 367.9 7.7 500.5 10.2 (132.6) (26.5)

Total Public 2,293.8 48.2 2,100.9 42.8 192.9 9.2 

Other 465.6 9.8 507.1 10.3 (41.5) (8.2)

Total Net sales $ 4,756.4 100.0 % $ 4,907.7 100.0 % $ (151.3) (3.1)%

(1) There were 64 selling days for both the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

Total Net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $151 million, or 3.1%, to $4,756 million, compared to the three months ended September
30,  2019.  Excluding  the  impact  of  foreign  currency  fluctuations,  constant  currency  Net  sales  decreased  3.3%.  For  additional  information,  see  "Non-GAAP
Financial Measure Reconciliations" below regarding constant currency Net sales growth.

For  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020,  Net  sales  decreased  across  all  major  hardware  categories,  with  the  exception  of  notebooks/mobile  devices,
compared to the three months ended September 30, 2019, due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on customer demand. The Census project contributed to
growth  in  other  hardware,  including  accessories  and  smartphones,  and  services.  For  additional  information,  see  Note  10  (Segment  Information)  to  the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

(1)
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Corporate segment Net sales for the three months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $254 million, or 13.2%, compared to the three months ended September 30,
2019  driven  by  decreases  across  most  major  hardware  categories,  due  to  the  impact  of  the  COVID-19  pandemic  on  customer  demand,  partially  offset  by  an
increase in software.

Small  Business  segment  Net  sales  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020  decreased  $49  million,  or  12.7%,  compared  to  the  three  months  ended
September 30, 2019 driven by decreases across all major hardware categories due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on customer demand.

Public segment Net sales for the three months ended September 30,  2020 increased $193 million,  or 9.2%, compared to the three months ended September 30,
2019.  Net  sales  to  Government  customers  increased  6.8%  primarily  driven  by  Other  hardware,  including  accessories  and  smartphones,  and  services  as  we
continued  to  deliver  on  the  Census  project,  as  well  as  notebooks/mobile  devices,  partially  offset  by  a  decrease  in  enterprise  storage  and  software.  Net  sales  to
Education customers increased 33.6% primarily  driven by notebooks/mobile  devices and related accessories  and software,  as schools become more enabled for
remote learning. Net sales to Healthcare customers decreased 26.5% primarily driven by decreases across all major hardware categories as hospitals experienced
budget pressures and delayed projects.

Net sales in Other, which is comprised of results from our UK and Canadian operations, for the three months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $42 million, or
8.2%  compared  to  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2019.  Both  operations  declined  in  local  currency  due  to  the  impact  of  the  COVID-19  pandemic  on
customer demand. The impact of foreign currency exchange increased Other Net sales by approximately 220 basis points due to the favorable impact of the British
pound to US dollar and unfavorable impact resulting from the Canadian dollar to US dollar translations.

Gross profit

Gross profit increased $9 million, or 1.1%, to $826 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $817 million for the three months ended
September 30, 2019. As a percentage of Net sales, Gross profit margin increased 80 basis points to 17.4% for the three months ended September 30, 2020. The
increase in Gross profit  margin was primarily due to increased product margin and the mix of netted down revenues that  are booked net of cost  of goods sold,
primarily software as a service.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $12 million, or 2.4%, to $508 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $496 million for
the three months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily driven by costs associated with a workforce reduction program. Total coworker count was
9,980, up 137 from 9,843 at September 30, 2019 due to our two most recent acquisitions.

As a percentage of total  Net sales,  Selling and administrative  expenses increased 60 basis  points  to 10.7% during the three months ended September 30,  2020,
compared to 10.1% in the three months ended September 30, 2019 due to higher payroll expenses as a result of higher coworker count and costs associated with a
workforce reduction program.
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Operating income

Operating income by segment, in dollars and as a percentage of Net sales, and the year-over-year percentage change are as follows:

Three Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019  

 
Dollars in 
Millions

Operating 
Margin

Dollars in 
Millions

Operating 
Margin

Percent Change 
in Operating Income

Segments:
Corporate $ 128.5 7.7 % $ 138.9 7.3 % (7.5) %
Small Business 24.3 7.2 27.2 7.0 (10.7)
Public 196.1 8.5 168.4 8.0 16.4 

Other 18.7 4.0 21.9 4.3 (14.6)
Headquarters (49.8) nm* (35.8) nm* (39.1)
Total Operating income $ 317.8 6.7 % $ 320.6 6.5 % (0.9) %

* Not meaningful

(1) Segment operating income includes the segment's direct operating income, allocations for Headquarters' costs, allocations for income and expenses from
logistics services, certain inventory adjustments and volume rebates and cooperative advertising from vendors.

(2) Includes  the  financial  results  for  our  other  operating  segments,  CDW  UK  and  CDW  Canada,  which  do  not  meet  the  reportable  segment  quantitative
thresholds.

(3) Includes certain Headquarters' function costs that are not allocated to the segments.

Operating income was $318 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $3 million, or 0.9%, compared to $321 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2019. Operating income decreased primarily due to higher payroll expenses and costs associated with a workforce reduction program,
partially offset by higher Gross profit dollars. Total operating margin percentage increased 20 basis points to 6.7% for the three months ended September 30, 2020,
compared to 6.5% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to an increase in Gross profit margin, partially offset by higher payroll expenses
as a percentage of Net sales and costs associated with a workforce reduction program.

Corporate segment Operating income was $129 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $10 million, or 7.5%, compared to $139
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019. Corporate segment Operating income decreased primarily due to lower Gross profit dollars, partially offset
by  lower  sales  payroll.  Corporate  segment  operating  margin  percentage  increased  40  basis  points  to  7.7% for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020,
compared to 7.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to higher product margin, partially offset by higher payroll expenses and higher
intangible asset amortization as a percentage of Net sales.

Small Business segment Operating income was $24 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $3 million, or 10.7%, compared to $27
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019. Small Business segment Operating income decreased primarily due to lower Gross profit dollars, partially
offset  by  lower  sales  payroll  expenses.  Small  Business  segment  operating  margin  percentage increased  20  basis  point  to  7.2%  for  the  three  months  ended
September  30,  2020,  compared  to  7.0%  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2019  primarily  due  to  higher  product  margin,  partially  offset  by  a  higher
provision for credit losses and higher intangible asset amortization as a percentage of Net sales.

Public  segment  Operating  income was $196  million  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020,  an  increase  of  $28  million,  or  16.4%,  compared  to  $168
million for the three months ended September 30, 2019. Public segment Operating income increased primarily due to higher Gross profit dollars, partially offset by
higher sales payroll. Public segment operating margin percentage increased 50 basis points to 8.5% for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to
8.0% for the three months ended September  30,  2019 primarily  due to a  mix into more profitable  product  offerings  and services and benefits  from cost  saving
measures, such as decreased travel and entertainment, and ongoing productivity and efficiency efforts.

Other Operating income was $19 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $3 million, or 14.6%, compared to $22 million for the three
months ended September 30, 2019. Other Operating income decreased primarily due to lower Gross profit dollars. Other operating margin percentage decreased 30
basis points to 4.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to 4.3% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to higher
payroll

(1)

(2)

(3)
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expenses as a percentage of Net sales and costs associated with a workforce reduction program, partially offset by higher product margin.

Income tax expense

Income  tax  expense  was  $57  million  and  $59  million  for  the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2020  and  2019,  respectively.  The  effective  income  tax  rate,
expressed by calculating the income tax expense as a percentage of Income before income taxes, was 22.7% for both the three months ended September 30, 2020
and 2019. The effective tax rate differed from the US statutory rate of 21.0% for three months ended September 30, 2020 primarily due to state and local income
taxes  and  a  discrete  deferred  tax  expense  as  a  result  of  an  increase  in  the  UK  corporate  tax  rate,  partially  offset  by  excess  tax  benefits  on  equity-based
compensation. The effective tax rate differed from the US statutory rate of 21.0% for the three months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to state and local
income taxes, partially offset by excess tax benefits on equity-based compensation.

The effective tax rate was the same for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019. The effective tax rate for the three months ended September 30,
2020 had a discrete deferred tax expense to reflect the increase in the UK corporate tax rate and lower excess tax benefits on equity compensation as compared to
the same period of the prior year, the impacts of which were offset by a discrete benefit from a state tax refund claim, lower global intangible low-taxed income
("GILTI") and lower non-deductible expenses as compared to the same period of the prior year.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure Reconciliations

We have included reconciliations of Non-GAAP operating income, Non-GAAP operating income margin, Non-GAAP income before income taxes, Non-GAAP
net income, and Net sales growth on a constant currency basis for the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 below.

Non-GAAP operating income excludes, among other things, charges related to the amortization of acquisition-related intangible assets, equity-based compensation
and the associated payroll taxes, a workforce reduction program, and acquisition and integration expenses. Non-GAAP operating income margin is defined as Non-
GAAP operating income as a percentage of Net sales. Non-GAAP income before income taxes and Non-GAAP net income exclude, among other things, charges
related  to  acquisition-related  intangible  asset  amortization,  equity-based  compensation,  net  loss  on  extinguishment  of  long-term  debt,  a  workforce  reduction
program, acquisition and integration expenses, and the associated tax effects of each. Net sales growth on a constant currency basis is defined as Net sales growth
excluding the impact of foreign currency translation on Net sales compared to the prior period.

Non-GAAP operating income, Non-GAAP operating income margin, Non-GAAP income before income taxes, Non-GAAP net income and Net sales growth on a
constant  currency  basis  are  considered  non-GAAP  financial  measures.  Generally,  a  non-GAAP  financial  measure  is  a  numerical  measure  of  a  company's
performance or  financial  position that  either  excludes or  includes amounts  that  are not  normally included or excluded in the most  directly  comparable  measure
calculated and presented in accordance with US GAAP. Non-GAAP measures used by management may differ from similar measures used by other companies,
even when similar terms are used to identify such measures.

We believe these measures provide analysts, investors and management with helpful information regarding the underlying operating performance of our business,
as they remove the impact of items that management believes are not reflective of underlying operating performance. Management uses these measures to evaluate
period-over-period performance as management believes they provide a more comparable measure of the underlying business.
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Non-GAAP operating income

Non-GAAP operating income was $386 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $6 million, or 1.5%, compared to $380 million for
the  three  months  ended  September  30,  2019.  As  a  percentage  of  Net  sales,  Non-GAAP  operating  income  was  8.1%  and  7.8%  for  the  three  months  ended
September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Three Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Operating income $ 317.8 $ 320.6 

Amortization of intangibles 44.9 44.6 
Equity-based compensation 11.5 12.8 
Workforce reduction charges 8.5 — 
Other adjustments 3.6 2.4 

Non-GAAP operating income $ 386.3 $ 380.4 
Non-GAAP operating income margin 8.1 % 7.8 %

(1) Includes amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, customer contracts and trade names.

(2) Includes  other  expenses  such  as  payroll  taxes  on  equity-based  compensation,  expenses  related  to  the  relocation  of  the  downtown Chicago  office,  and
acquisition and integration expenses.

Non-GAAP net income

Non-GAAP net income was $265 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $15.0 million, or 6.2%, compared to $250 million for the
three months ended September 30, 2019.

Three Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019

(in millions)
Income before
income taxes

Income tax
expense Net income Income before

income taxes
Income tax
expense Net income

US GAAP (as reported) $ 250.1 $ (56.9) $ 193.2 $ 260.9 $ (59.2) $ 201.7 
Amortization of intangibles 44.9 (8.6) 36.3 44.6 (11.3) 33.3 
Equity-based compensation 11.5 (5.1) 6.4 12.8 (11.8) 1.0 
Net loss on extinguishment of long-term debt 27.3 (6.8) 20.5 16.1 (4.0) 12.1 
Workforce reduction charges 8.5 (2.1) 6.4 — — — 
Other adjustments 3.6 (1.0) 2.6 2.4 (0.6) 1.8 

Non-GAAP $ 345.9 $ (80.5) $ 265.4 $ 336.8 $ (86.9) $ 249.9 

(1) Income tax on non-GAAP adjustments includes excess tax benefits associated with equity-based compensation.

(2) Includes amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, customer contracts and trade names.

(3) Includes  other  expenses  such  as  payroll  taxes  on  equity-based  compensation,  expenses  related  to  the  relocation  of  the  downtown Chicago  office,  and
acquisition and integration expenses.

(1)

(2)

(1) (1)

(2)

(3)
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Net sales growth on a constant currency basis

Net sales decreased $151 million, or 3.1%, to $4,756 million for the three months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $4,908 million for the three months
ended September 30, 2019. Net sales on a constant currency basis, which excludes the impact of foreign currency translation, decreased $164 million, or 3.3%.

Three Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019 % Change
Net sales, as reported $ 4,756.4 $ 4,907.7 (3.1) %

Foreign currency translation — 12.8 
Net sales, on a constant currency basis $ 4,756.4 $ 4,920.5 (3.3) %

(1) There were 64 selling days for both the three months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

(2) Represents the effect of translating the prior year results of CDW UK and CDW Canada at the average exchange rates applicable in the current year.

Nine Months Overview

The results of certain business metrics are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Net sales $ 13,511.3 $ 13,495.5 
Gross profit 2,329.2 2,262.4 
Operating income 847.0 849.8 
Net income 550.2 551.2 
Non-GAAP operating income 1,028.4 1,026.1 
Non-GAAP net income 690.7 673.0 
Average daily sales 70.4 70.7 
Net debt 2,681.4 3,117.5 
Cash conversion cycle (in days) 16 17 

(1)    There were 192 and 191 selling days for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(2)    Defined as Total debt minus Cash and cash equivalents.

(3)     Cash  conversion  cycle  is  defined  as  days  of  sales  outstanding  in  Accounts  receivable  and  certain  receivables  due  from  vendors  plus  days  of  supply  in
Merchandise inventory minus days of  purchases outstanding in Accounts payable and Accounts payable-inventory financing,  based on a rolling three-
month average.

(1)

(2)

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Results of Operations

Nine Months Ended September 30, 2020 Compared to Nine Months Ended September 30, 2019

Results of operations, in dollars and as a percentage of Net sales are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019

 
Dollars in 
Millions

Percentage of 
Net Sales

Dollars in 
Millions

Percentage of 
Net Sales

Net sales $ 13,511.3 100.0 % $ 13,495.5 100.0 %
Cost of sales 11,182.1 82.8 11,233.1 83.2 
Gross profit 2,329.2 17.2 2,262.4 16.8 
Selling and administrative expenses 1,482.2 11.0 1,412.6 10.5 
Operating income 847.0 6.3 849.8 6.3 
Interest expense, net (117.8) (0.9) (121.1) (0.9)
Other expense, net (21.9) (0.1) (15.0) (0.1)
Income before income taxes 707.3 5.3 713.7 5.3 
Income tax expense (157.1) (1.2) (162.5) (1.2)
Net income $ 550.2 4.1 % $ 551.2 4.1 %

Net sales

Net sales by segment, in dollars and as a percentage of total Net sales, and the year-over-year dollar and percentage change in Net sales are as follows:

 Nine Months Ended September 30,   
 2020 2019  

(dollars in millions) Net Sales
Percentage 

of Total Net Sales Net Sales
Percentage 

of Total Net Sales
Dollar 
Change

Percent 
Change

Average Daily Sales
Percent Change

Corporate $ 5,128.5 38.0 % $ 5,533.6 41.0 % $ (405.1) (7.3)% (7.8)%

Small Business 1,030.6 7.6 1,119.2 8.3 (88.6) (7.9) (8.4)

Public:
Government 2,135.9 15.8 1,860.2 13.8 275.7 14.8 14.2 
Education 2,431.2 18.0 1,981.0 14.7 450.2 22.7 22.1 
Healthcare 1,274.1 9.4 1,430.5 10.6 (156.4) (10.9) (11.4)

Total Public 5,841.2 43.2 5,271.7 39.1 569.5 10.8 10.2 

Other 1,511.0 11.2 1,571.0 11.6 (60.0) (3.8) (4.3)

Total Net sales $ 13,511.3 100.0 % $ 13,495.5 100.0 % $ 15.8 0.1 % (0.4)%

(1) There were 192 and 191 selling days for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

Total Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 increased $16 million to $13,511 million, compared to the nine months ended September 30, 2019.
There was one more selling day in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to the same period of 2019. For additional information, see "Non-GAAP
Financial Measure Reconciliations" below regarding constant currency Net sales growth.

For the nine months ended September 30, 2020, Net sales grew in notebooks/mobile devices from robust customer demand for remote enablement in response to
the  COVID-19  pandemic.  The  Census  project  further  contributed  to  growth  in  other  hardware,  including  accessories  and  smartphones,  and  services.  These
increases were nearly fully offset by decreases in all

(1)
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other hardware categories due to the impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on customer demand. For additional information, see Note 10 (Segment Information) to
the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Corporate segment Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $405 million, or 7.3%, compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2019. On an average daily sales basis, Corporate segment Net sales decreased 7.8%. The decrease was primarily driven by all hardware categories, partially offset
by increases in software and services.

Small Business segment Net sales for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $89 million, or 7.9%, compared to the nine months ended September
30, 2019. On an average daily sales basis, Small Business segment Net sales decreased 8.4%. The decrease was driven by all hardware categories.

Public segment Net sales for the nine months ended September 30,  2020 increased $570 million,  or 10.8%, compared to the nine months ended September 30,
2019.  On an average daily  sales  basis,  Public  segment  Net  sales  increased 10.2%. Net  sales  to Education customers  increased 22.1% on an average daily  sales
basis, primarily driven by notebooks/mobile devices as schools become more enabled for remote learning. Net sales to Government customers increased 14.2% on
an  average  daily  sales  basis  primarily  driven  by  notebooks/mobile  devices  and  the  continued  delivery  on  the  Census  project  within  other  hardware,  including
accessories and smartphones, and services. Net sales to Healthcare customers decreased 11.4% on an average daily sales basis, primarily driven by all categories
with the exception of notebooks/mobile devices as hospitals experienced budget pressures and delayed projects.

Net sales in Other, which is comprised of results from our UK and Canadian operations, for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 decreased $60 million, or
3.8%,  compared  to  the  nine  months  ended  September  30,  2019.  On  an  average  daily  sales  basis,  Other  decreased  4.3%.  Net  sales  for  Canadian  operations
decreased  across  all  hardware  categories,  with  the  exception  of  notebooks/mobile  devices.  Net  sales  for  UK  operations  increased  primarily  driven  by
notebooks/mobile  devices and software,  partially  offset  by all  other  hardware categories.  The impact  of  foreign currency exchange further  decreased Other Net
sales by approximately 90 basis points, primarily due to the unfavorable translation of the Canadian dollar and British pound to the US dollar.

Gross profit

Gross profit  increased $67 million, or 3.0%, to $2,329 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $2,262 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019. As a percentage of Net sales, Gross profit margin increased 50 basis points to 17.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020.
Gross  profit  margin  was  positively  impacted  by  product  margin  and  by  the  mix  of  netted  down revenues  that  are  booked  net  of  cost  of  goods  sold,  primarily
software as a service.

Selling and administrative expenses

Selling and administrative expenses increased $70 million, or 4.9%, to $1,482 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $1,413 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. The increase was primarily due to higher payroll expenses consistent with higher coworker count and higher Gross
profit  and  a  higher  provision  for  credit  losses  driven  by  a  $30  million  increase  in  reserves,  which  predominately  reflects  the  expected  economic  impact  of  the
COVID-19 pandemic. Total coworker count was 9,980, up 137 from 9,843 at September 30, 2019 due to our two most recent acquisitions.

As a percentage of Net sales, Selling and administrative expenses increased 50 basis points to 11.0% during the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared
to 10.5% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019, due to higher payroll expenses and a higher provision for credit losses.
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Operating income

Operating income by segment, in dollars and as a percentage of Net sales, and the year-over-year percentage change are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 2020 2019  

 
Dollars in 
Millions

Operating 
Margin

Dollars in 
Millions

Operating 
Margin

Percent Change 
in Operating 

Income
Segments:

Corporate $ 378.9 7.4 % $ 430.8 7.8 % (12.0) %
Small Business 72.6 7.0 78.2 7.0 (7.2)
Public 468.4 8.0 373.9 7.1 25.3 

Other 49.9 3.3 66.6 4.2 (25.1)
Headquarters (122.8) nm* (99.7) nm* (23.2)
Total Operating income $ 847.0 6.3 % $ 849.8 6.3 % (0.3) %

* Not meaningful

(1) Segment operating income includes the segment's direct operating income, allocations for certain Headquarters costs, allocations for income and expenses
from logistics services, certain inventory adjustments and volume rebates and cooperative advertising from vendors.

(2) Includes  the  financial  results  for  our  other  operating  segments,  CDW  UK  and  CDW  Canada,  which  do  not  meet  the  reportable  segment  quantitative
thresholds.

(3) Includes certain Headquarters' function costs that are not allocated to the segments.

Operating  income was $847 million  for  the  nine  months  ended September  30,  2020,  a  decrease  of  $3 million,  or  0.3%,  compared  to  $850 million  for  the  nine
months ended September 30, 2019. Operating income decreased primarily due to higher payroll expenses and a higher provision for credit losses, partially offset
by higher Gross profit dollars. Total operating margin percentage remained flat at 6.3% for both the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 primarily
due higher Gross profit margin, offset by higher payroll expenses and a higher provision for credit losses as percentage of Net sales.

Corporate segment Operating income was $379 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $52 million, or 12.0%, compared to $431
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Corporate segment Operating income decreased primarily due to lower Gross profit dollars and a higher
provision for credit losses, partially offset by lower payroll expenses. Corporate segment operating margin percentage decreased 40 basis points to 7.4% for the
nine months ended September 30, 2020, from 7.8% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to a higher provision for credit losses and higher
payroll expenses as a percentage of Net sales, partially offset by higher product margin.

Small Business segment Operating income was $73 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $6 million, or 7.2%, compared to $78
million for  the nine months ended September 30,  2019.  Small  Business segment Operating income decreased primarily  due to lower Gross profit  dollars  and a
higher provision for credit losses, partially offset by lower sales payroll expenses. Small Business segment operating margin percentage remained flat at 7.0% for
both the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019.

Public  segment  Operating  income  was  $468  million  for  the  nine  months  ended  September  30,  2020,  an  increase  of  $94  million,  or  25.3%,  compared  to  $374
million for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. Public segment Operating income increased primarily due to higher Gross profit dollars, partially offset by
higher sales payroll expenses. Public segment operating margin percentage increased 90 basis points to 8.0% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, from
7.1% for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to a mix into more profitable product offerings and services.

Other Operating income was $50 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, a decrease of $17 million, or 25.1%, compared to $67 million for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019. Other Operating income decreased primarily due to lower Gross profit dollars, higher payroll expenses and a higher provision
for  credit  losses.  Other  operating margin percentage decreased 90 basis  points  to 3.3% for  the nine months ended September  30,  2020,  from 4.2% for the nine
months ended September 30, 2019 primarily due to higher payroll expenses and a higher provision for credit losses as a percentage of Net sales, partially offset by
higher product margin.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Income tax expense

Income tax expense was $157 million and $163 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively. The effective tax rate, expressed by
calculating the income tax expense as a percentage of Income before income taxes, was 22.2% for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and differed from
the US federal statutory rate of 21.0% with state and local income taxes and a discrete deferred tax expense as a result of an increase in the UK corporate tax rate
being largely offset by excess tax benefits on equity-based compensation. The effective income tax rate for the nine months ended September 30, 2019 was 22.8%
and differed from the US federal statutory rate of 21.0% primarily due to state and local income taxes partially offset by excess tax benefits on equity-based
compensation and a discrete tax benefit related to CDW Canada’s acquisition of Scalar in 2019.

The decrease  in  the  effective  tax  rate  for  the  nine  months  ended September  30,  2020 as  compared  to  the  same period of  the  prior  year  was  primarily  due to  a
discrete benefit from a state tax refund claim, lower GILTI and lower non-deductible expenses as compared to the same period of the prior year, partially offset by
a discrete deferred tax expense as a result of an increase in the UK corporate tax rate and a discrete tax benefit related to CDW Canada's acquisition of Scalar in
2019.

Non-GAAP Financial Measure Reconciliations

We have included reconciliations of Non-GAAP operating income, Non-GAAP operating income margin, Non-GAAP income before income taxes, Non-GAAP
net income, and Net sales growth on a constant currency basis for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019 below.

Non-GAAP operating income

Non-GAAP operating income was $1,028 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $2 million, or 0.2%, compared to $1,026 million
for the nine months ended September 30, 2019. As a percentage of Net sales, Non-GAAP operating income was 7.6% for both the nine months ended September
30, 2020 and 2019.

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Operating income $ 847.0 $ 849.8 

Amortization of intangibles 133.9 133.7 
Equity-based compensation 25.9 37.7 
Workforce reduction charges 8.5 — 
Other adjustments 13.1 4.9 

Non-GAAP operating income $ 1,028.4 $ 1,026.1 
Non-GAAP operating income margin 7.6 % 7.6 %

(1) Includes amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, customer contracts and trade names.

(2) Includes  other  expenses  such  as  payroll  taxes  on  equity-based  compensation,  expenses  related  to  the  relocation  of  the  downtown Chicago  office,  and
acquisition and integration expenses.

(1)

(2)
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Non-GAAP net income

Non-GAAP net income was $691 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, an increase of $18 million, or 2.6%, compared to $673 million for the
nine months ended September 30, 2019.

Nine Months Ended September 30,
2020 2019

(dollars in millions)
Income before
income taxes

Income tax
expense Net income Income before

income taxes
Income tax
expense Net income

US GAAP (as reported) $ 707.3 $ (157.1) $ 550.2 $ 713.7 $ (162.5) $ 551.2 
Amortization of intangibles 133.9 (30.8) 103.1 133.7 (33.8) 99.9 
Equity-based compensation 25.9 (25.2) 0.7 37.7 (28.7) 9.0 
Net loss on extinguishment of long-term debt 27.3 (6.8) 20.5 16.1 (4.0) 12.1 
Workforce reduction charges 8.5 (2.1) 6.4 — — — 
Other adjustments 13.1 (3.3) 9.8 4.9 (4.1) 0.8 

Non-GAAP $ 916.0 $ (225.3) $ 690.7 $ 906.1 $ (233.1) $ 673.0 

(1) Income tax on non-GAAP adjustments includes excess tax benefits associated with equity-based compensation.

(2) Includes amortization expense for acquisition-related intangible assets, primarily customer relationships, customer contracts and trade names.

(3) Includes  other  expenses  such  as  payroll  taxes  on  equity-based  compensation,  expenses  related  to  the  relocation  of  the  downtown Chicago  office,  and
acquisition and integration expenses.

Net sales growth on a constant currency basis

Net sales increased $15 million,  or 0.1%, to $13,511 million for the nine months ended September 30, 2020, compared to $13,496 million for the nine months
ended September 30, 2019. Net sales on a constant currency basis, which excludes the impact of foreign currency translation, increased $30 million, or 0.2%.

Nine Months Ended September 30,

(dollars in millions) 2020 2019 % Change
Average Daily %

Change
Net sales, as reported $ 13,511.3 $ 13,495.5 0.1 % (0.4) %

Foreign currency translation — (14.9)
Net sales, on a constant currency basis $ 13,511.3 $ 13,480.6 0.2 % (0.3) %

(1) There were 192 and 191 selling days for the nine months ended September 30, 2020 and 2019, respectively.

(2) Represents the effect of translating the prior year results of CDW UK and CDW Canada at the average exchange rates applicable in the current year.

Seasonality

While we have not historically experienced significant seasonality throughout the year, sales in our Corporate segment, which primarily serves US private sector
business  customers  with  more  than  250  employees,  are  typically  higher  in  the  fourth  quarter  than  in  other  quarters  due  to  customers  spending  their  remaining
technology budget dollars at the end of the year. Additionally, sales in our Public segment have historically been higher in the third quarter than in other quarters
primarily due to the buying patterns of the federal government and education customers.

Liquidity and Capital Resources

Overview

We  finance  our  operations  and  capital  expenditures  with  internally  generated  cash  from  operations  and  borrowings  under  our  revolving  credit  facility.  As  of
September 30, 2020, we had $856 million of availability for borrowings under our senior secured asset-based revolving credit facility and an additional £50 million
($65 million)  under  the CDW UK revolving credit  facility.  Our liquidity  and borrowing plans are  established to align with our  financial  and strategic  planning
processes and ensure we

(1) (1)

(2)

(3)

(1)

(2)
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have the necessary funding to meet our operating commitments, which primarily include the purchase of inventory, payroll and general expenses. We also take into
consideration our overall capital allocation strategy, which includes investment for future growth, dividend payments, acquisitions and share repurchases. During
2020, we bolstered our liquidity position by completing a $600 million senior notes issuance in April 2020 and leveraging the lower interest rate environment by
refinancing one of our higher interest rate senior notes in August 2020. We also temporarily suspended share repurchases from March 2020 through October 2020.
In November 2020, we announced the resumption of our share repurchase program. We took additional measures to enhance our liquidity by implementing various
cost savings initiatives. We believe we have adequate sources of liquidity and funding available for at least the next year; however, there are a number of factors
that may negatively impact our available sources of funds. The amount of cash generated from operations will be dependent upon factors such as the successful
execution of our business plan, general economic conditions and working capital management, including accounts receivable.

Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements

On April 21, 2020, we completed the issuance of $600 million aggregate principal amount of 4.125% Senior Notes due May 2025 at par.

On August 13, 2020, we completed the refinance of $600 million aggregate principal amount of 5.000% Senior Notes due September 2025 through the issuance of
$700 million aggregate principal amount of 3.250% Senior Notes due 2029 at par.

As  of  September  30,  2020,  we  had  total  indebtedness  of  $3.9  billion,  of  which  $1.5  billion  was  secured  indebtedness.  At  September  30,  2020,  we  were  in
compliance with the covenants under our various credit agreements and indentures.

For additional information regarding our debt and refinancing activities, see Note 6 (Long-Term Debt) to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Inventory Financing Agreements

We  have  entered  into  agreements  with  certain  financial  intermediaries  to  facilitate  the  purchase  of  inventory  from  various  suppliers  under  certain  terms  and
conditions.  These amounts  are  classified separately  as  Accounts  payable-inventory  financing on the Consolidated Balance Sheets.  We do not  incur  any interest
expense associated with these agreements as balances are paid when they are due. For additional information, see Note 3 (Inventory Financing Agreements) to the
accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Share Repurchase Program

During  the  first  quarter  of  2020,  we  repurchased  1.1  million  shares  of  our  common  stock  for  $141  million  under  the  previously  announced  share  repurchase
program. In March 2020, we elected to temporarily suspend share repurchases as a precautionary measure in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. We made no share
purchases  during  the  second  and  third  quarters  of  2020.  In  November  2020,  we  announced  the  resumption  of  our  share  repurchase  program.  For  additional
information on our share repurchase program, see "Part II, Item 2, Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds."

Dividends

A summary of 2020 dividend activity for our common stock is as follows:

Dividend Amount Declaration Date Record Date Payment Date
$0.380 February 6, 2020 February 25, 2020 March 10, 2020
$0.380 May 6, 2020 May 25, 2020 June 10, 2020
$0.380 August 4, 2020 August 25, 2020 September 10, 2020

On November 2, 2020, we announced that our Board of Directors declared a quarterly cash dividend of $0.400 per common share. The dividend will be paid on
December 10, 2020 to all stockholders of record as of the close of business on November 25, 2020.

The  payment  of  any  future  dividends  will  be  at  the  discretion  of  our  Board  of  Directors  and  will  depend  upon  our  results  of  operations,  financial  condition,
business  prospects,  capital  requirements,  contractual  restrictions,  any  potential  indebtedness  we  may  incur,  restrictions  imposed  by  applicable  law,  tax
considerations  and  other  factors  that  our  Board  of  Directors  deems  relevant.  In  addition,  our  ability  to  pay  dividends  on  our  common stock  will  be  limited  by
restrictions on our ability to pay dividends or make distributions to our stockholders and on the ability of our subsidiaries to pay dividends or make distributions to
us, in each case, under the terms of our current and any future agreements governing our indebtedness.
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Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act

On March 27, 2020, the Coronavirus Aid, Relief, and Economic Security Act ("CARES Act") was enacted into law. The primary impact to our financial statements
as  a  result  of  the  CARES Act  was  the  deferral  of  US corporate  income  tax  payments  from the  second  quarter  of  2020  to  July  2020  as  well  as  the  deferral  of
employer related payroll tax payments from the second, third and fourth quarters of 2020 with 50% to be paid in the fourth quarter of 2021 and the remaining 50%
to be paid in the fourth quarter of 2022.

Cash Flows

Cash flows from operating, investing and financing activities are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
 (dollars in millions) 2020 2019
Net cash provided by (used in):

Operating activities $ 738.4 $ 682.3 
Investing activities (172.1) (150.0)

Net change in accounts payable-inventory financing 232.5 (17.4)
Other financing activities 299.2 (551.1)

Financing activities 531.7 (568.5)
Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents (2.5) (2.7)
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents $ 1,095.5 $ (38.9)

Operating Activities

Cash flows from operating activities are as follows:

Nine Months Ended September 30,
(dollars in millions) 2020 2019 Change
Net income $ 550.2 $ 551.2 $ (1.0)
Adjustments for the impact of non-cash items 441.3 226.9 214.4 
Net income adjusted for the impact of non-cash items 991.5 778.1 213.4 
Changes in assets and liabilities:
    Accounts receivable (304.9) (171.8) (133.1)
    Merchandise inventory (34.2) (151.1) 116.9 
    Accounts payable-trade 106.8 264.0 (157.2)
    Other (20.8) (36.9) 16.1 
Net cash provided by operating activities $ 738.4 $ 682.3 $ 56.1 

(1) Includes items such as depreciation and amortization, deferred income taxes, provision for credit losses and equity-based compensation expense.

(2) The change is due to stronger operating results driven by Gross profit growth and higher depreciation and amortization.

(3) The  change  is  primarily  driven  by  mixing  into  customers  with  longer  payment  cycles,  customers  taking  longer  to  pay  due  to  the  current  economic
environment and favorable timing of collections in 2019.

(4) The change is  primarily  due to lower growth in inventory balances,  partially  offset  by higher customer-driven stocking positions in 2020 compared to
2019.

(5) The change is primarily due to lower growth in sales in 2020 compared to 2019.

(6) The  change  is  primarily  driven  by  improved  collection  performance  and  a  lower  balance  of  our  receivables  from vendors,  partially  offset  by  reduced
contract liabilities.

(1)

(2)

(3)

(4)

(5)

(6)
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In  order  to  manage  our  working  capital  and  operating  cash  needs,  we  monitor  our  cash  conversion  cycle,  defined  as  days  of  sales  outstanding  in  accounts
receivable plus days of supply in inventory minus days of purchases outstanding in accounts payable, based on a rolling three-month average. Components of our
cash conversion cycle are as follows:

September 30,
(in days) 2020 2019
Days of sales outstanding (DSO) 61 56 
Days of supply in inventory (DIO) 13 13 
Days of purchases outstanding (DPO) (58) (52)

Cash conversion cycle 16 17 

(1) Represents the rolling three-month average of the balance of Accounts receivable, net at the end of the period, divided by average daily Net sales for the
same three-month period. Also incorporates components of other miscellaneous receivables.

(2) Represents the rolling three-month average of the balance of Merchandise inventory at the end of the period divided by average daily Cost of sales for the
same three-month period.

(3) Represents  the  rolling  three-month  average  of  the  combined  balance  of  Accounts  payable-trade,  excluding  cash  overdrafts,  and  Accounts  payable-
inventory financing at the end of the period divided by average daily Cost of sales for the same three-month period.

The cash conversion cycle decreased to 16 days at September 30, 2020, compared to 17 days at September 30, 2019. DSO and DPO increased 5 days and 6 days,
respectively.  The  increase  in  DSO  was  primarily  driven  by  a  greater  impact  of  third-party  services,  such  as  software  as  a  service  and  warranties,  and  higher
receivable  balances  due  to  mixing  into  customers  with  longer  payment  cycles  and  customers  generally  taking  longer  to  pay  due  to  the  current  economic
environment. These third-party services and mixing into vendors with extended payment terms drove DPO higher.

Investing Activities

Net  cash  used in  investing  activities  increased  $22 million  in  the  nine  months  ended September  30,  2020 compared  to  September  30,  2019.  This  increase  was
primarily due to increased Capital expenditures of $59 million, primarily due to purchases of devices for the Census project, and the acquisition of IGNW on July
1, 2020, partially offset by the acquisition of Scalar in 2019.

Financing Activities

Net cash provided by financing activities increased $1.1 billion in the nine months ended September 30, 2020 compared to September 30, 2019. The increase was
primarily  driven  by  the  $600  million  debt  offering  completed  in  April  2020,  refinancing  a  series  of  senior  notes  in  August  2020,  lower  share  repurchases  and
increased volume through our inventory financing arrangements, partially offset by decreased borrowings under our revolving credit facilities and higher dividend
payments. For additional information regarding the inventory financing agreements and debt activities, see Note 3 (Inventory Financing Agreements) and Note 6
(Long-Term Debt) to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements.

Contractual Obligations

Except as disclosed above under "Long-Term Debt and Financing Arrangements," there have been no material changes to our contractual obligations from those
reported in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Off-Balance Sheet Arrangements

We have  no  off-balance  sheet  arrangements  that  have  or  are  reasonably  likely  to  have  a  material  current  or  future  effect  on  our  financial  condition,  results  of
operations, liquidity, capital expenditures or capital resources.

Issuers and Guarantors of Debt Securities

On March 2, 2020, the SEC adopted final rules that amend the financial disclosure requirements for subsidiary issuers and guarantors of registered debt securities
in Rule 3-10 of Regulation S-X. Although the disclosures required by the amendments do not become mandatory until January 4, 2021, voluntary early compliance
is permitted. We have elected to voluntarily comply beginning with the quarterly period ended March 31, 2020.

(1)

(2)

(3)
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Each series of our outstanding unsecured senior notes (the "Notes") are issued by CDW LLC and CDW Finance Corporation (the "Issuers") and are guaranteed by
CDW Corporation ("Parent") and each of CDW LLC's direct  and indirect,  100% owned, domestic subsidiaries (the "Guarantor Subsidiaries" and, together with
Parent, the "Guarantors"). All guarantees by Parent and the Guarantors are joint and several, and full and unconditional; provided that guarantees by the Guarantor
Subsidiaries are subject to certain customary release provisions contained in the indentures governing the Notes.

The Notes and the related guarantees are the Issuers’ and the Guarantors’ senior unsecured obligations and are:

• structurally subordinated to all existing and future indebtedness and other liabilities of our non-guarantor subsidiaries and;

• rank equal in right of payment with all of the Issuers' and the Guarantors’ existing and future unsecured senior debt.

The following tables set forth Balance Sheet information as of September 30, 2020 and December 31, 2019, and Statement of Operations information for the nine
months ended September 30, 2020 and for the year ended December 31, 2019. The financial information includes the accounts of the Issuers and the accounts of
the  Guarantors  (the  "Obligor  Group").  The  financial  information  of  the  Obligor  Group  is  presented  on  a  combined  basis  and  the  intercompany  balances  and
transactions between the Obligor Group have been eliminated.

Balance Sheet Information

(dollars in millions) September 30, 2020 December 31, 2019
Current assets $ 5,084.5 $ 3,601.6 
   Goodwill 2,235.2 2,206.1 
   Other assets 678.3 903.1 
Total Non-current assets 2,913.5 3,109.2 
Current liabilities 3,309.1 2,975.3 
   Long-term debt 3,859.1 3,229.5 
   Other liabilities 205.8 188.3 
Total Long-term liabilities 4,064.9 3,417.8 

Statement of Operations Information

(dollars in millions)
Nine Months Ended
September 30, 2020

Year Ended December 31,
2019

Net sales $ 12,000.3 $ 15,874.1 
Gross profit 2,072.5 2,666.8 
Operating income 797.0 1,032.1 
Net income 511.1 656.7 

Commitments and Contingencies

The information set forth in Note 9 (Commitments and Contingencies) to the accompanying Consolidated Financial Statements is incorporated herein by reference.

Critical Accounting Policies and Estimates

We  estimate  an  allowance  for  credit  losses  related  to  accounts  receivable  for  future  expected  credit  losses  by  using  relevant  information  such  as  historical
information, current conditions, and reasonable and supportable forecasts. The allowance is measured on a pool basis when similar risk characteristics exist, and a
loss-rate for each pool is determined using historical credit loss experience as the basis for the estimation of expected credit losses. Adjustments to historical loss
information are made for differences in current conditions, as well as changes in forecasted macroeconomic conditions, such as changes in the unemployment rate
or  gross  domestic  product  growth.  We have typically  experienced  a  higher  loss-rate  experience  with  customers  in  the  pools  associated  with  our  Corporate  and
Small  Business  segments,  as  compared to  the  pools  associated  with the  Public  segment.  During the  nine months  ended September  30,  2020,  we recognized an
allowance to reflect the forecasted credit deterioration due to the COVID-19 pandemic, which considered the customer makeup and overall size of our pools, the
impacts experienced to date and the impacts from the last significant economic downturn in 2008-2009. Due to the higher inherent risk in the pools associated with
our Corporate and Small Business segments and the overall size of certain pools
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within  the  Public  segment,  the  majority  of  the  additional  allowance  relates  to  these  segments.  As  the  overall  impact  and  duration  of  the  COVID-19  pandemic
remains uncertain, our estimates and assumptions may evolve as conditions change.

Our other critical accounting policies have not changed from those reported in "Item 7. Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results
of Operations" in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019.

Recent Accounting Pronouncements

The  information  set  forth  in  Note  2  (Recent  Accounting  Pronouncements)  to  the  accompanying  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  is  incorporated  herein  by
reference.

Forward-Looking Statements

This  report  contains  "forward-looking  statements"  within  the  meaning  of  the  federal  securities  laws.  All  statements  other  than  statements  of  historical  fact  are
forward-looking statements.  These statements relate to analyses and other information, which are based on forecasts of future results or events and estimates of
amounts not yet determinable. These statements also relate to our future prospects, developments and business strategies. We claim the protection of The Private
Securities Litigation Reform Act of 1995 for all forward-looking statements in this report.

These forward-looking statements are identified by the use of terms and phrases such as "anticipate," "assume," "believe," "estimate," "expect," "goal," "intend,"
"plan," "potential," "predict," "project," "target" and similar terms and phrases or future or conditional verbs such as "could," "may," "should," "will," and "would."
However, these words are not the exclusive means of identifying such statements. Although we believe that our plans, intentions and other expectations reflected in
or suggested by such forward-looking statements are reasonable, we cannot assure you that we will achieve those plans, intentions or expectations. All forward-
looking statements are subject to risks and uncertainties that may cause actual results or events to differ materially from those that we expected.

Important  factors  that  could  cause  actual  results  or  events  to  differ  materially  from our  expectations,  or  cautionary  statements,  are  disclosed  under  the  section
entitled "Risk Factors" included in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and from time to time in our subsequent Quarterly
Reports on Form 10-Q and our other US Securities and Exchange Commission ("SEC") filings. These factors include, among others, the COVID-19 pandemic and
actions taken in response thereto and the associated impact on our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and liquidity; global and regional
economic  and  political  conditions;  decreases  in  spending  on  technology  products  and  services;  CDW's  relationships  with  vendor  partners  and  terms  of  their
agreements;  continued  innovations  in  hardware,  software  and  services  offerings  by  CDW's  vendor  partners;  substantial  competition  that  could  reduce  CDW's
market share;  potential  interruptions of the flow of products from suppliers;  CDW's level of indebtedness and ability to generate sufficient  cash to service such
indebtedness;  restrictions  imposed by agreements  relating  to  CDW's  indebtedness  on its  operations  and liquidity;  changes  in,  or  the  discontinuation  of,  CDW's
share  repurchase  program or  dividend  payments;  the  continuing  development,  maintenance  and  operation  of  CDW's  information  technology  systems;  potential
breaches of data security and failure to protect our information technology systems from cybersecurity threats; potential failures to comply with Public segment
contracts or applicable laws and regulations; potential failures to provide high-quality services to CDW's customers; potential losses of any key personnel; potential
adverse  occurrences  at  one  of  CDW's  primary  facilities  or  customer  data  centers;  increases  in  the  cost  of  commercial  delivery  services  or  disruptions  of  those
services;  CDW's  exposure  to  accounts  receivable  and  inventory  risks;  future  acquisitions  or  alliances;  fluctuations  in  CDW's  operating  results;  fluctuations  in
foreign  currency;  current  and  future  legal  proceedings  and  audits;  changes  in  laws,  including  regulations  or  interpretations  thereof;  and  other  risk  factors  or
uncertainties identified from time to time in CDW's filings with the SEC. All written and oral forward-looking statements attributable to us, or persons acting on
our behalf, are expressly qualified in their entirety by the cautionary statements contained in the section entitled "Risk Factors" included in our Annual Report on
Form 10-K for the year ended December 31, 2019 and elsewhere in this report as well as other cautionary statements that are made from time to time in our other
SEC filings and public communications. You should evaluate all forward-looking statements made in this report in the context of these risks and uncertainties.

We  caution  you  that  the  important  factors  referenced  above  may  not  reflect  all  of  the  factors  that  could  cause  actual  results  or  events  to  differ  from  our
expectations. In addition, we cannot assure you that we will realize the results or developments we expect or anticipate or, even if substantially realized, that they
will result in the consequences or affect us or our operations in the way we expect. The forward-looking statements included in this report are made only as of the
date hereof or, with respect to any documents incorporated by reference, available at the time such document was prepared or filed with the SEC. We undertake no
obligation to publicly update or revise any forward-looking statement as a result of new information, future events or otherwise, except as otherwise required by
law.
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Item 3. Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures About Market Risk

See "Management's Discussion and Analysis of Financial Condition and Results of Operations" and "Quantitative and Qualitative Disclosures of Market Risks" in
the  Company's  Annual  Report  on  Form 10-K for  the  year  ended  December  31,  2019.  As  of  September  30,  2020,  there  have  been  no  material  changes  in  this
information.

Item 4. Controls and Procedures

Evaluation of Disclosure Controls and Procedures

The Company's management, with the participation of the Company's Chief Executive Officer and Chief Financial Officer, has evaluated the effectiveness of the
Company's  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  (as  such  term  is  defined  in  Rule  13a-15(e)  or  Rule  15d-15(e)  under  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  as
amended (the "Exchange Act")) as of the end of the period covered by this report. Based on such evaluation, the Company's management, including the Company's
Chief  Executive  Officer  and Chief  Financial  Officer,  has  concluded that,  as  of  the  end of  such period,  the  Company's  disclosure  controls  and procedures  were
effective in recording, processing, summarizing and reporting, on a timely basis, information required to be disclosed by the Company in the reports that it files or
submits under the Exchange Act, and that information is accumulated and communicated to the Company's management, including the Company's Chief Executive
Officer and Chief Financial Officer, as appropriate to allow timely discussions regarding required disclosure.

Changes in Internal Control over Financial Reporting

There have been no changes in the Company's internal  control over financial  reporting during the three months ended September 30, 2020 that have materially
affected, or are reasonably likely to materially affect, the Company's internal control over financial reporting. We have not experienced any material impact to our
internal  controls  over  financial  reporting  despite  the  fact  that  most  of  our  coworkers  are  working  remotely  for  their  health  and  safety  during  the  COVID-19
pandemic. We are continually monitoring and assessing the potential impact of the COVID-19 pandemic on our internal controls to minimize the impact on their
design and operating effectiveness.
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PART II—OTHER INFORMATION

Item 1. Legal Proceedings

The  information  set  forth  in  Note  9  (Commitments  and  Contingencies)  to  the  accompanying  Consolidated  Financial  Statements  included  in  "Part  I,  Item  1.
Financial Statements" of this report is incorporated herein by reference.

Item 1A. Risk Factors

The disclosure below modifies the risk factors previously disclosed in our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the fiscal year ended December 31, 2019. These risks
and  uncertainties,  along  with  those  previously  disclosed,  may  cause  our  business  prospects,  results  of  operations  and  cash  flows  in  future  periods  to  differ
materially  from  those  currently  expected  or  desired.  Factors  not  currently  known  to  us  or  that  we  currently  deem  to  be  immaterial  may  also  materially  and
adversely affect our business, results of operations and cash flows.

Risks Related to Our Business

The  outbreak  of  the  novel  coronavirus  ("COVID-19")  pandemic  has  adversely  impacted  and  could  continue  to  adversely  impact  our  business  and  results  of
operations and could also adversely impact our cash flows, financial condition and liquidity.

The global  spread of COVID-19 continues to create  significant  macroeconomic uncertainty,  volatility  and disruption.  Many governments  and health authorities
have  implemented  recommendations  or  mandates  intended  to  slow the  further  spread  of  the  disease,  such  as  shelter-in-place  orders,  resulting  in  the  temporary
closure  of  schools  and non-essential  businesses,  or  social  distancing  measures,  resulting  in  modified  operations  of  various  businesses  including  ours,  and these
measures may remain in place for a significant period of time. While some of these restrictions have been lifted or eased in certain jurisdictions, the resurgence of
COVID-19  in  other  jurisdictions  has  slowed,  and  in  some  cases  reversed,  the  reopening  process.  We  could  experience  disruptions,  including  as  a  result  of
resurgences  of  COVID-19,  that  prevent  us  from  meeting  the  demands  of  our  customers,  such  as  product  constraints  from  our  vendor  partners  and  wholesale
distributors and other disruptions to our supply chain, disruptions in or restrictions on the ability of our coworkers to work effectively, temporary closures of our
distribution facilities, modifications in the operation of facilities that remain open and disruptions of commercial delivery services. The impact of COVID-19 and
measures implemented to slow the spread have and could continue to cause delay in, or limit the ability of, our customers to make timely payments to us and could
materially increase our costs. In addition, the pandemic has resulted in a widespread health crisis that has adversely affected the economies and financial markets
of many countries, including the US, the UK and Canada. During the COVID-19 pandemic and even after it has subsided, we may experience adverse impacts to
our business as a result of the pandemic’s global economic impact, including any recession, economic downturn or volatility, government spending cuts, tightening
of credit markets or increased unemployment that has occurred or may occur in the future, which could cause our customers and potential customers to postpone or
reduce spending on technology products or services or put downward pressure on prices.

Individually  and  collectively,  the  consequences  of  the  COVID-19 pandemic  have  adversely  impacted  and could  continue  to  adversely  impact  our  business  and
results  of  operations  and  could  also  adversely  impact  our  cash  flows,  financial  condition  and  liquidity.  Net  sales  during  the  third  quarter  of  2020 decreased  as
compared to the third quarter of 2019 across all major hardware categories with the exception of notebooks/mobile devices, due to the impact of the COVID-19
pandemic  on customer  demand,  in  particular  with  respect  to  our  Corporate  and Small  Business  customers  as  their  purchases  tend to  reflect  confidence  in  their
business prospects, which are driven by their discrete perceptions of business and economic conditions. The extent to which the COVID-19 pandemic continues to
impact our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition and liquidity will depend on future developments, which are highly uncertain and cannot
be  predicted,  including,  but  not  limited  to,  the  duration,  the  severity  and  further  spread  of  the  outbreak,  future  resurgences  and  reimplementation  of  closures,
actions taken to contain the virus or  treat  its  impact  and the effectiveness  of  these actions and how quickly and to what extent  normal  economic and operating
conditions can resume and be sustained. To the extent the COVID-19 pandemic adversely affects our business, results of operations, cash flows, financial condition
and liquidity, it may also have the effect of heightening many of the other risks described in the "Risk Factors" section of our Annual Report on Form 10-K for the
fiscal  year  ended  December  31,  2019,  such  as  those  relating  to  spending  on  technology  products  and  services  by  our  public  sector  customers,  our  level  of
indebtedness,  our  need  to  generate  sufficient  cash  to  service  our  indebtedness,  restrictive  covenants  contained  in  the  agreements  that  govern  our  indebtedness
limiting  our  ability  to  incur  additional  debt,  pay dividends  or  repurchase  capital  stock,  fluctuations  in  our  operating results  and volatility  of  our  common stock
price.

42



Table of Contents

Item 2. Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities and Use of Proceeds

Unregistered Sales of Equity Securities

None.

Issuer Purchases of Equity Securities

On February 7, 2019, we announced that our Board of Directors authorized a $1 billion increase to our share repurchase program under which we may repurchase
shares of our common stock in the open market through privately negotiated or other transactions, depending on share price, market conditions and other factors.

In March 2020, the Company elected to temporarily suspend share repurchases as a precautionary measure in light of the COVID-19 pandemic. We made no share
purchases during the second and third quarters of 2020. In November 2020, we announced the resumption of our share repurchase program.

Item 3. Defaults Upon Senior Securities

None.

Item 4. Mine Safety Disclosures

Not applicable.

Item 5. Other Information

None.

43



Item 6. Exhibits

Exhibit Description

4.1 Supplemental Indenture, dated as of August 13, 2020, by and among CDW LLC, CDW Finance Corporation, the guarantors party thereto,
and U.S. Bank National Association, as trustee, previously filed as Exhibit 4.2 with the Company’s Current Report on Form 8-K filed on
August 13, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

4.2 Form of 3.25% Senior Note (included as Exhibit A to Exhibit 4.1), previously filed as Exhibit 4.3 with the Company’s Current Report on
Form 8-K filed on August 13, 2020 and incorporated herein by reference.

22.1* List of Issuer and Guarantor Subsidiaries.
31.1* Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
31.2* Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to Rule 15d-14(a) under the Securities Exchange Act of 1934.
32.1** Certification of Chief Executive Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
32.2** Certification of Chief Financial Officer Pursuant to 18 U.S.C. 1350.
101.INS* XBRL Instance Document - the instance document does not appear in the Interactive Data File because its XBRL tags are embedded within

the Inline XBRL document.
101.SCH* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Schema Document.
101.CAL* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Calculation Linkbase Document.
101.DEF* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Definition Linkbase Document.
101.LAB* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Label Linkbase Document.
101.PRE* Inline XBRL Taxonomy Extension Presentation Linkbase Document.
104* Cover Page Interactive Data File (embedded within the Inline XBRL document).

________________
*    Filed herewith
**    These items are furnished and not filed.
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SIGNATURES

Pursuant  to  the  requirements  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934,  the  registrant  has  duly  caused  this  report  to  be  signed  on  its  behalf  by  the  undersigned
thereunto duly authorized.

CDW CORPORATION

Date: November 2, 2020 By: /s/ Collin B. Kebo
Collin B. Kebo
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
(Duly authorized officer and principal financial officer)
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    Exhibit 22.1

LIST OF ISSUER AND GUARANTOR SUBSIDIARIES

The following subsidiaries of CDW Corporation serve as an issuer or guarantor, as applicable, for each outstanding series of senior notes:

Subsidiary Jurisdiction of Organization Type of Obligor
CDW LLC Illinois Issuer
CDW Finance Corporation Delaware Issuer
CDW Technologies LLC Wisconsin Guarantor
CDW Direct, LLC Illinois Guarantor
CDW Government LLC Illinois Guarantor
CDW Logistics LLC Illinois Guarantor



Exhibit 31.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Christine A. Leahy, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange  Act  Rules  13a-15(e)  and 15d-15(e))  and internal  control  over  financial  reporting  (as  defined  in  Exchange  Act  Rules  13a-15(f)  and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures,  or  caused  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal  control over financial  reporting,  or caused such internal control over financial  reporting to be designed under
our  supervision,  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All  significant  deficiencies  and material  weaknesses  in  the design or  operation of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 

/s/ Christine A. Leahy
Christine A. Leahy
President and Chief Executive Officer
CDW Corporation
November 2, 2020



Exhibit 31.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO RULE 13a-14(a) or 15d-14(a) UNDER
THE SECURITIES EXCHANGE ACT OF 1934

I, Collin B. Kebo, certify that:

1. I have reviewed this quarterly report on Form 10-Q of the registrant;

2. Based on my knowledge, this report does not contain any untrue statement of a material fact or omit to state a material fact necessary to make the
statements made, in light of the circumstances under which such statements were made, not misleading with respect to the period covered by this
report;

3. Based on my knowledge, the financial statements, and other financial information included in this report, fairly present in all material respects
the financial condition, results of operations and cash flows of the registrant as of, and for, the periods presented in this report;

4. The registrant's other certifying officer and I are responsible for establishing and maintaining disclosure controls and procedures (as defined in
Exchange  Act  Rules  13a-15(e)  and 15d-15(e))  and internal  control  over  financial  reporting  (as  defined  in  Exchange  Act  Rules  13a-15(f)  and
15d-15(f)) for the registrant and have:

a. Designed  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures,  or  caused  such  disclosure  controls  and  procedures  to  be  designed  under  our
supervision, to ensure that material information relating to the registrant, including its consolidated subsidiaries, is made known to us
by others within those entities, particularly during the period in which this report is being prepared;

b. Designed such internal  control over financial  reporting,  or caused such internal control over financial  reporting to be designed under
our  supervision,  to  provide  reasonable  assurance  regarding  the  reliability  of  financial  reporting  and  the  preparation  of  financial
statements for external purposes in accordance with generally accepted accounting principles;

c. Evaluated the effectiveness of the registrant's disclosure controls and procedures and presented in this report our conclusions about the
effectiveness of the disclosure controls and procedures, as of the end of the period covered by this report based on such evaluation; and

d. Disclosed in this report any change in the registrant's internal control over financial reporting that occurred during the registrant's most
recent fiscal quarter (the registrant's fourth fiscal quarter in the case of an annual report) that has materially affected, or is reasonably
likely to materially affect, the registrant's internal control over financial reporting; and

5. The registrant's other certifying officer and I have disclosed, based on our most recent evaluation of internal control over financial reporting, to
the registrant's auditors and the audit committee of registrant's board of directors (or persons performing the equivalent functions):

a. All  significant  deficiencies  and material  weaknesses  in  the design or  operation of  internal  control  over  financial  reporting which are
reasonably likely to adversely affect the registrant's ability to record, process, summarize and report financial information; and

b. Any fraud, whether or not material, that involves management or other employees who have a significant role in the registrant's internal
control over financial reporting.

 

/s/ Collin B. Kebo
Collin B. Kebo
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
CDW Corporation
November 2, 2020



Exhibit 32.1

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63
OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE

I, Christine A. Leahy, the chief executive officer of CDW Corporation ("CDW"), certify that (i) the Quarterly Report on Form 10-Q for the three months ended
September  30,  2020 (the  "10-Q")  of  CDW fully  complies  with  the  requirements  of  Section  13(a)  or  15(d)  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934 and  (ii)  the
information contained in the 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of CDW.
 

/s/ Christine A. Leahy
Christine A. Leahy
President and Chief Executive Officer
CDW Corporation
November 2, 2020



Exhibit 32.2

CERTIFICATION PURSUANT TO SECTION 1350 OF CHAPTER 63
OF TITLE 18 OF THE UNITED STATES CODE

I,  Collin  B.  Kebo,  the  chief  financial  officer  of  CDW  Corporation  ("CDW"),  certify  that  (i)  the  Quarterly  Report  on  Form  10-Q  for  the  three  months  ended
September  30,  2020 (the  "10-Q")  of  CDW fully  complies  with  the  requirements  of  Section  13(a)  or  15(d)  of  the  Securities  Exchange  Act  of  1934 and  (ii)  the
information contained in the 10-Q fairly presents, in all material respects, the financial condition and results of operations of CDW.

 

/s/ Collin B. Kebo
Collin B. Kebo
Senior Vice President and Chief Financial Officer
CDW Corporation
November 2, 2020


